
 
 

 
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334 
269-216-5220           Fax 375-7180         TDD 375-7198 

www.oshtemo.org 
 

 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS - REGULAR MEETING 

 
 OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP HALL 

7275 WEST MAIN STREET 
 

TUESDAY, MAY 21, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. Call to Order  
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Approval of Agenda 
 

4. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 

5. Approval of Minutes: March 26, 2024 
 

6. Public Hearing: Variance Request – Move Up, LLC (692 South 8th Street) 
Move UP, LCC is requesting relief from the frontage requirements outlined in Section 50.10 of the 
Zoning Ordinance to allow a proposed land division at 692 South 8th Street resulting in a parcel with less 
than 200 feet of frontage. 
 

7. Site Plan Review: Dunshee Auto and Body 
Dunshee Auto and Body is requesting site plan approval of an 11,957 square foot auto body shop with 
associated office space on a vacant parcel in the 6600 block of West KL Avenue.  
 

8. Site Plan Review: Storypoint Kalamazoo at Bronson Place – Memory Care 
Common Sail Development is requesting site plan approval of a 28-bed memory care facility addition to 
the building at 1700 Bronson Way.  

 
9. Other Updates and Business 

a. Planning Department 2023 Annual Report 
b. Building tour. 

 
10. Adjournment 

 
 
 

(Meeting will be available for viewing through https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township) 
 

 

1

https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township


Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Michael Chapman

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Rod Rought
Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Jodi Stefforia
Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5222 rrought@oshtemo.org

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

jstefforia@oshtemo.org

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

Neil Sikora

375-4260

nsikora@oshtemo.org

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

mchapman@oshtemo.org

375-4260

2

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


 

1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

DRAFT MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING HELD MARCH 26, 2024 AT 
OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP HALL, 7275 WEST MAIN STREET 

 

 
Agenda        
 
PUBLIC HEARING –VARIANCE REQUEST: WESTCARE ASSOCIATES, LLC: Westcare 
Associates, LLC is requesting relief from the frontage requirements outlined in Section 
50.10 of the Zoning Ordinance to allow for a reduced frontage of 120 feet at 6565 W Main 
Street where the Zoning Ordinance requires 200 feet for commercially-zoned parcels.  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Board of Appeals was held Tuesday, 
March 26, 2024, beginning at 3:00 p.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Louis Williams, Chair  
     Rick Everett 
     Dusty Farmer 
     Fred Gould 
     Harry Jachym, Vice Chair 
     Al Smith 
       
Also present were Colten Hutson, Zoning Administrator; Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator; 
Jim Porter, Township Attorney; and two guests.  
 
Call to Order  
 

      Chairperson Williams called the meeting to order. Those present joined in reciting the 
Pledge of Allegiance.   
 
Approval of Agenda 
 

      Vice Chair Jachym made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Mr. Gould 
seconded the motion. Vice Chair Williams called for a vote. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
      The Chairperson moved to the next agenda item. 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 

      There were no comments on non-agenda items. 
 
Approval of the Minutes of February 20, 2024 
 

      Chair Wiliams asked if there were any amendments needed for approval of the minutes of 
February 20, 2024. Hearing none, Mr. Jachym  made a motion to approve the minutes as 
presented. Clerk Farmer seconded the motion. The Chairperson called for a vote. The motion 
was approved unanimously.  
 

3



 

2 
 

Public Hearing –Variance Request: Westcare Associates, LLC 
 

      The Chair opened the meeting for public hearing, variance request for 6565 W. Main Street.  
 
      Ms. Harris presented the variance request for 6565 W. Main Street (parcel 05-14-330-020). 
The applicant, Marty Hodges on behalf of Westcare Associates, is requesting a frontage 
variance from Section 50.10 of the Zoning Ordinance to allow for a reduced frontage of 120 feet, 
where the Zoning Ordinance requires 200 feet for commercially zoned parcels.  
 
      The project is largely in cooperation with Oshtemo Township to ensure the proposed road 
extension does not constitute a taking. The applicant’s intent is to operate the southernmost 
portion of the property with the present nonconforming frontage with Seeco Drive until the 
extension of Seeco Drive can be installed, bringing the site into full compliance. This portion of 
the site will not require a variance since it already possesses sufficient frontage required by 
ordinance. 6565 W. Main Street outlined in red on the aerial map is in the NE quadrant of the 
Township. Presently, there are two access points with frontage to the site: 120 feet abutting 
Seeco Drive, and approximately 661 feet abutting W. Main Street. The entire property is 
approximately 18 ½ acres and is zoned C-Local Business District. There are currently two 
buildings on the property totaling 69,500 square feet with corresponding parking, site circulation, 
stormwater, etc.  
 
Standards of Approval: 
 

      Moving to the variance request, the Michigan courts have provided the principles for 
dimensional variance which collectively amount to demonstrating approximate practical 
difficulty. Staff have analyzed the requests against these principles and offer the information in 
the Staff Report to the Zoning Board of Appeals.  
 
Standard:  Unique Physical Circumstances: Are there unique physical limitations or  

conditions which prevent compliance? 
 
Comment:  The property is currently developed and meets Ordinance requirements for size  
   and frontage from W. Main Street however, if the property were to be divided, the  

frontage from Seeco Drive from the southernmost area of the parcel would be 
120 feet. If the property owner were to grant the Township an easement for the 
road improvements, then the southernmost area of the parcel would comply. 
Since the Township is taking initiative and is proposing easement for a public 
road to intersect the property, it could be argued that such is a physical 
circumstance.  

 
Standard: Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome: Are reasonable options for  

compliance available?  
 

Comment: It could be argued that compliance would be unnecessarily burdensome since  
without the variance, the property owner would be prevented from operating the  
southernmost building until Seeco Drive is constructed eastward which is when  
the southernmost area of the parcel would regain sufficient frontage, to be  
conforming again. Access is presently occurring from this location from Seeco  
Drive to the site.  
  

 

4



 

3 
 

Standard:  Minimum necessary for substantial justice.  
 
Comment: In researching past Zoning Board of Appeals decisions regarding the request for  

relief from road frontage requirements, Planning Department Staff were  
unable to identify any similar cases, mainly attributable to the uniqueness  
of this request. In this instance, the Township is taking the initiative and is 
proposing an easement for road improvements to intersect the 18 ½ acre  
property in efforts to extend a public roadway east. The few cases Staff identified  
were instances where a developer initiated the request to install a public road but  
only in the interest of creating a residential subdivision. The Township is  
requesting an easement for road improvements in a location where it would  
burden the southernmost area of the parcel with respects to reduced frontage  
and although the precedence may not prove substantial justice, approving the  
variance would provide justice to the property owner by allowing them to continue  
the use of their property while the Seeco Drive extension is constructed and not  
allowing the construction of the road to constitute a taking.   

 
Standard:  Self-Created Hardship: Are the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the 

variance request, created by the actions of the applicant?  
 
Comment: It could be argued that the conditions and circumstances which resulted in the 

variance request were not created by the actions of the applicant. Rather, it could  
be argued that the need for the variance was created from the cooperative nature  
of the applicant with the Township in order to receive an easement for road  
improvements, to construct the Seeco Drive extension.  

 
Standard:  Public Safety and Welfare: Will the variance request negatively impact the health,  

safety, and welfare of others?  
 
Comment: An excerpt of the Township’s 2011 Master Plan, specifically the West Main sub- 

area plan [visual map in presentation and full plan in the packet, page 25]. This  
area of the W. Main sub-area plan is crucial to planning the extension of Seeco  
Drive with a proposed collector road intersection through the subject property. If 
the variance were approved, the proposed road would not only significantly  
improve the health, safety, and welfare of adjacent properties but enhance the  
entire community as well by providing new road networks and access.  
Additionally, any traffic created by the extension of Seeco Drive would be well  
controlled by the traffic signal at the intersection of N. 9th Street and Seeco Drive.   

 
Possible Actions: 
 

The motion from the Zoning Board of Appeals should include the findings of fact relevant to 
the requested variance. Based on Staff analysis, the following findings of fact are presented: 

 

• Support of variance approval includes: 
o The unique physical circumstances that prevent strict compliance with the Zoning 

Ordinance as the Township is requesting an easement to extend Seeco Drive 
eastward which will ultimately bisect the applicant’s property.   

o Conformance to the Ordinance is unnecessarily burdensome as the amount of 
property that would be required to construct the Seeco Drive extension would 

5



 

4 
 

render the southernmost portion of the site essentially unusable by the property 
owner and could constitute a taking.   

o Support of variance approval also includes that the proposed road would not only 
significantly improve the health, safety, and welfare of adjacent properties but 
also enhance the entire community by providing new road networks and access, 
and the conditions and circumstances which result in the variance request were 
not created by the actions of the applicant but rather by the cooperative actions 
of the applicant and the Township that created the need for the variance.   

 

• Support of variance denial includes substantial justice not being met due to there being 
no similar cases found due to the uniqueness of the request.  

 
Possible Zoning Board of Appeals motions to consider include:  
 

1. Zoning Board of Appeals approves the variance request due to the unique physical 
circumstance, conformance to the Ordinance is unnecessarily burdensome, there would 
be no negative impact to the health, safety, or welfare of the public, and the conditions or 
circumstances which resulted in the variance request were not self-created.  

2. If the variance is approved, Staff recommend the following conditions:  
a.) New building permits, if any, shall not be released until the Seeco Drive project  

design is approved and accepted by the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County 
and the necessary easement is granted to the Township.  

b.) New building permits, if any, shall not be released until the land division application is  
submitted and approved.  

 
3. Alternatively, the Zoning Board of Appeals can deny the variance due to substantial 

justice not being met since no similar cases were identified.   
 

Ms. Harris offered to answer any questions the Board may have and stated the applicant 
was present.     
  

Chairperson Williams thanked Ms. Harris for her presentation and asked for confirmation if 
6565 W. Main were Westside Medical, which Ms. Harris confirmed. The Chair also asked if 
there were a traffic signal or if there would be further traffic signals installed at the 
aforementioned portion of the site. Ms. Harris deferred to Attorney Porter, or Mr. Colten Hutson, 
Zoning Administrator, but confirmed if variance is approved, there is a signalized intersection at 
Seeco Drive and N. 9th Street. Attorney Porter noted there would not be a need for additional 
traffic signals but be an extension of Seeco Drive as it is currently and noted that the 
roundabout would be installed and then Seeco Drive would simply be extended eastward.  
 

Mr. Jachym asked if there is a timeline for this proposed road project. Attorney Porter 
responded as he and Mr. Hutson have had conversations with the Public Works Director and 
this road extension is one of the top priorities of the Township and are looking to move forward 
as quickly as possible. Further noted, the Township has developers looking at the land 
immediately east of this property and they will need a second access to fully develop.  
 

Clerk Farmer asked for further clarification of how the construction of this road will bring it 
into compliance. Ms. Harris conveyed that actively it has 120 feet of frontage, so it is legally 
nonconforming but if/when the road extension is constructed, it will have more than the 200 feet 
of frontage required by ordinance. Attorney Porter specified the width is 661 feet of frontage 
once the road is completed; dividing the north property from the south, giving this property 

6



 

5 
 

owner this temporary variance where the property would then have 3 times the required 
frontage.  

 
Mr. Everett stated his understanding, Seeco Drive to the west only has 120 feet of frontage, 

but once the road is constructed across the property, they would have the entire width of the 
property as frontage, which Attorney Porter affirmed.  

  
Chairperson Williams asked if there were any other questions. Hearing none from the 

Board, he asked Mr. Marty Hodges of Westcare Associates, LLC to approach the lectern if he 
had anything to share. Mr. Hodges replied that he supports the variance as proposed and 
further mentioned that when he was approached with this proposal, he felt this would be a good 
long-term investment for Oshtemo.    

 
The Chair stated without anything further to add, closed the public comment portion of the 

meeting, and asked for Board deliberation.  
 
Mr. Smith made a motion to approve the variance request, due to the unique physical 

characteristics of this location, the conformance to the Ordinance is unnecessarily burdensome, 
and that there would be no negative impact to the health, safety, and welfare of the public, on 
the contrary, it will benefit the health, safety, and welfare of the public, and the conditions and 
circumstances which resulted in this request for the variance were not self-created. Mr. Smith 
stated he also recommends that this variance be approved with Staff recommendations, that no 
new building permits shall be released until Seeco Drive is approved and accepted by 
Kalamazoo County Road Commission and the necessary easement is given to the Township for 
construction of the road extension. Also, as a second condition, any building permits be held 
until such time that a land division application is submitted to the Township and approved. Mr. 
Jachym seconded the motion.  

 
With a motion on the floor, the Chair called for a vote: 6 ayes, 0 nays, 0 abstentions. Motion 

carried unanimously.  
 
Chairperson moved to the next agenda item. 

 
Other Updates and Business 
 

      Mr. Hutson stated the new Planning Director will begin later this week, Jodi Stefforia, and 
that she will be a wonderful addition to this team. Clerk Farmer also communicated there is a 
new minute-taker and asked when this person will be attending. Mr. Hutson confirmed this 
person will start in-person at the next Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.  

 
      Mr. Gould asked if it were possible to obtain a printed copy of the meeting packet before the 
start of the meeting, due to a printer issue. Mr. Hutson assured Mr. Gould if he contacted the 
office, a printed packet could be prepared in advance.   

 
Adjournment 
 

      The Chair stated there being no other business, he adjourned the meeting at 3:25 p.m. 
 
Minutes prepared: April 1, 2024 
 
Minutes approved: __________, 2024 

7



 

[This page left intentionally blank] 

8



May 16, 2024 
 
Mtg Date:   May 21, 2024 
 
To:  Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals
  
From:  Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator 
 
Applicant: Move Up, LLC 
 
Owner:  AGM Development, LLC 
 
Property: 692 S 8th Street, Parcel Number 3905-22-285-022 
 
Zoning:  I-1: Industrial District 
 
Request: A variance from frontage requirements outlined in Section 50.10 of the Zoning Ordinance to allow 

for a reduced frontage of 178 feet where the Zoning Ordinance requires 200 feet in the industrial 
district.  

 
Section(s): Section 50.10 – Schedule of Area, Frontage and/or Width Requirements  
 Section 27 – I-1: Industrial District 
 
 
OVERVIEW: 
Move Up, LLC, is requesting a variance 
from frontage requirements outlined 
in Section 50.10 of the Zoning 
Ordinance to allow for a reduced 
frontage of 178 feet where the Zoning 
Ordinance requires 200 feet for 
parcels in the industrial districts. The 
applicant’s intent is to divide the 
building addressed 692 South 8th 
Street from the parcel addressed 604 
South 8th Street in order to own the 
subject building and corresponding 
property instead of leasing. The 
proposed division can be seen on the 
Sketch of Descriptions document, 
attached. 
 
The subject property is outlined in red 
in the aerial map to the right. The 
property is northwest of the South 8th 
Street and West KL Avenue 
intersection. The parcel has frontage 
on two streets: approximately 178 

AERIAL OF 692 SOUTH 8TH STREET 

N 

WEST KL AVENUE 

SO
U

TH
 8

TH
 S

TR
EE

T 

9



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Frontage Variance Request, 692 S 8th Street  
5/21/2024 ∙ Page 2 

feet on West KL Avenue and approximately 198 feet on South 8th Street. The frontage requirement is 200 feet. 
The property’s size exceeds the minimum required at approximately 381,600 square feet. However, neither the 
frontage on South 8th Street nor on West KL Avenue are presently in compliance with the Ordinance, at 198.59 
feet and 178.42 feet, respectively. 
 
STANDARDS OF REVIEW – STAFF ANALYSIS 

The Michigan courts have applied the following principles for a dimensional variance, which collectively amount 
to demonstrating a practical difficulty, as follows: 

• Special or unique physical conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the property involved 
and which are not generally applicable to other properties in the same district. 

• Strict compliance with the standard would unreasonably prevent the landowner from using the property 
for a permitted use; or would render conformity to the ordinance unnecessarily burdensome.  

• The variance is the minimum necessary to provide substantial justice to the landowner and neighbors. 
• The problem is not self-created. 
• Public safety and welfare.  

 
Staff has analyzed the request against these principles and offers the following information to the Zoning Board 
of Appeals. 
 
Standards of Approval of a Nonuse Variance (practical difficulty) 
Standard: Unique Physical Circumstances 

Are there unique physical limitations or conditions which prevent compliance? 
 
Comment: 692 South 8th Street is presently developed with three buildings on site. The property size is fully 

compliant with the Ordinance; however, neither of the frontages  are currently compliant with 
the Ordinance. At one point, the property had approximately 209 feet of frontage on West KL 
Avenue, in compliance with the Zoning Ordinance’s requirements. The neighboring property, 
addressed 7106 West KL Avenue, constructed their septic tank and drain field for a multi-family 
home over the subject property’s line (see map to the right for reference). As a requirement of 
the sale of the multi-family home, 31 feet of property, where the septic tank and drain field are 
located, had to be deeded 
over to the property owner 
to the east.  

 
  Before seeking a variance, 

the applicant did attempt 
to acquire the necessary 
frontage from the property 
owner at 7106 West KL 
Avenue. Due to the 
location of the septic tank 
and drain field, and other 
various reasons, this 
acquisition was not 
possible. See applicant’s 
comments on this factor.  

N 

10



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Frontage Variance Request, 692 S 8th Street  
5/21/2024 ∙ Page 3 

 
Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome 

Are reasonable options for compliance available? 
Does reasonable use of the property exist with denial of the variance? 

 
Comment:  Reasonable options for compliance are available by continuing to operate the property in its 

present state. Use is presently being made of the property and denial of the variance would not 
prevent continuing the use.  

 
  Dividing the building and associated property from the parent parcel in order to own the building 

instead of leasing the building is entirely discretionary and options for compliance exist in platting 
or creating a site condominium. However, this involves the adjacent property owners to the south 
that are served by the private drive. There is presently a 66-foot-wide easement proposed from 
South 8th Street to the proposed divided parcel. See applicant’s comments on this factor. 

 
Minimum Necessary for Substantial Justice 

Applied to both applicant as well as to other property owners in district. 
Review past decisions of the ZBA for consistency (precedence). 
 

Comment: In researching past Zoning Board of Appeals decisions regarding the request for relief from the 
road frontage requirements, one similar request was found. These details can be found below, 
and the corresponding meeting minutes can be found attached to this report. See applicant’s 
comments on this factor. 

 
  628 South 8th Street, Parcel Number 3905-22-285-025, 12/17/2001: The applicant sought relief 

from the frontage (and area) requirements for I-1: Industrial District properties from the Zoning 
Board of Appeals to allow for the expansion of their building to add storage. The applicants argued 
that platting would not benefit the neighboring properties or the community, and that a site 
condominium was not available because two units were necessary. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
granted the variance request, allowing the building enlargement, citing that the variance was 
consistent with the spirit and intent of the Ordinance, conditioning that shared drive maintenance 
shall occur and an improvement agreement between the owner of the subject site and the AGM 
property shall occur.  

   
Self-Created Hardship 

Are the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the variance request created by actions of 
the applicant or a previous owner? 

 
Comment: The applicant’s interest in owning the property and corresponding building is what is creating the 

request, arguing that the conditions and circumstances which resulted in the variance request 
were created by the actions of the applicant. However, also consider that the reason for the 
frontage being less than current Ordinance requirements was due to a neighboring property 
owner constructing their septic tank and drain field over the property line onto the subject 
property, causing the need for 31 feet of property to be deeded over to the neighboring property 
owner (map shown above) as a requirement of the sale of the multi-family home. Before this, the 
property had approximately 209 feet of frontage on W KL Avenue, which would have been fully 
compliant with the Zoning Ordinance’s requirements. See applicant’s comments on this factor. 

 

11



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Frontage Variance Request, 692 S 8th Street  
5/21/2024 ∙ Page 4 

Public Safety and Welfare 
  Will the variance request negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of others? 
 
Comment: The frontage required by Ordinance of 200 feet is typical for industrially zoned properties for 

driveways, utilities, etc. and to ensure adequate space in between neighboring parcels. It could 
be argued that, by granting the variance and allowing the 178-foot frontage, the request could 
negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of others unless there is a restriction placed that 
prohibits the establishment of a driveway to West KL Avenue. See applicant’s comments on this 
factor. 

 
POSSIBLE ACTIONS 

The motion should include the findings of fact relevant to the requested variance. Based on the staff analysis, the 
following findings of fact are presented: 
 

• Support of variance approval 
o There are unique physical circumstances that prevent strict compliance with the Zoning 

Ordinance as the nonconforming frontage was created due to the neighboring property owners 
constructing the septic tank and drain field over the subject property’s property line. 
 

• Support of variance denial 
o Compliance with the Ordinance is not unnecessarily burdensome as the property could continue 

to be utilized in its present state, and dividing the property is entirely discretionary. 
o Although the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the variance request were not created 

by the actions of the applicant, the remaining frontage is a result of a previous owner, which is 
still relevant for self-created hardships. 

o Conformance to the Ordinance is not unnecessarily burdensome as creating a site condominium, 
platting, or extending a private road through the site, is possible if neighboring property owners 
participate.  
 

Possible motions for the Zoning Board of Appeals to consider include: 

1. Variance Approval 
The Zoning Board of Appeals approves the variance request. 
 

If the variance were approved, Staff also recommend that the Zoning Board of Appeals attach the 
following conditions: 

• No additional access points to West KL Avenue shall be permitted until such time that the parcel’s  
West KL Avenue frontage satisfies Zoning Ordinance requirements. 

• The proposed 66’ easement shall be recorded with the Kalamazoo County Register of Deeds Office 
and proof of same provided with the application for Land Division approval. 

 
2. Variance Denial 

The Zoning Board of Appeals denies the variance request. 
 

Attachments:  Application 
Applicant’s Letter of Intent 
Sketch of Description 
12/17/2001 Meeting Minutes 

12



Doclsign Enlelope lD: 921378180"D2F8-494&ABEC-397F690AFE,|F

n \ CHARTER TOWNSHIP
. Esrablished 1839. PLEASE PRINT

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PLANNING & ZONING APPLICATION

Applicant Name: Move up, LLC

Company: Mo'/e Up, LLC

Atln: Apdl Jennesis Collet

Address. 692 S. 8th Slreet

Kalamazoo, Ml 49009

E-mail. ajennesis@gobluetech.com

Telephone ; 61G34S03'l1 Fa.x: N/A

Interest in Property: Cufent lenanl; looking to acquire lhe prope.ty

OWNF.R+:

Nane. AGM Development, LLC

Kalamazoo, Ml 49019

E-mail. rwendland@agm-michigan.com

Phone & Fax: 26937sS165

NATURE OF TIIE REQUEST: (Please check the appropriate item(s))

_ Pre-Application Review

_ Site Plan Review - 1088

_ Administrative Site Plan Review - 1086

_ Special Exception Use - 1085

l_ Zoning Variance - 1092
Site Condominium - I084

7275 W. Main Stre€t Kalamazoo, Michigan 49009-9334
Phone: 269-37 54260 F ax: 269-37 5-7 180

THIS
SPACE

FOR

TOWNSHIP
USE

ONLY

_ Accessory Building Review - 1083

_ Rezoning - I09l
_ SuMivision Plat Review - 1089

_ Interpretation - 1082
Other:

shtemot

BRIEFLY DESCRIBE YOUR REQUEST (Use Aftachments if Necessary):

PLEASE SEE ATTACHED

Rev.9 /14 /22

I

J,
I

Fee Amount 

-

Escrow Amount-
Address.POBox19067

I

13



Docusign Envelope lD: 9213781 8G.D2F8-494&AgEC-397F690AFE4F

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY (Use Attachments if Necessary)

PLEASE SEE ATTACHED

pARCEr, 11nTMBERT 3905- 22-285-022

ADDRESS OF pRopERTy: 604 & 692 S. 8th Street, Kalamazoo, Ml

pRESENT USE oF THE pRopERly. lndustrial

PRESENT ZONING: l-1 S1ZE oF pRopEpry. 8.76 acres

NAME(S) & ADDRESS(ES) OF ALL OTIIER PERSONS, CORPORATIONS, OR FIRMS IIAVING
A LEGAL OR EQUTIABLE INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY:

Name(s) Address(es)

SIGNATURES

I (we) the undersigned certify lhat the information contained on this applicationform and the
required documents attached hereto are to lhe best ofmy (our) knowledge tt'ue and accurate.
I (u,e) aclotouledge that we have received lhe Township's Disclaimer Regarding Sewer and Waler
Infrastnrchre. By submitling lhis Planning & Zoning Application, I (tte) grant permissionfor
Oshlemo Township fficials and agenls to enter the subjecl property of the application as parl of
completing the reviews necessary to process lhe application.

l/,i,"Atu/lrr*l 3/27 /2024 I 10:36 AM PDT

_EE:
Owner's Siguature (+lf dffirentfrom Applicant) Date

3/27 /2024 | 2:51 PM PDr

raalEaa-.
Applicant's Signature Date

Copies lo:
Plannmg - |
Applicrnt- I
Cle* - I
Deputy Cle* - I

Plaming Secretary - original PLEASE ATTACH ALL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

2

iOsbthL-SBS\Us.'s\LinddtINDA\Plmnins\IORMS

Rev-9 /1a/22

14



Variance Apptication - SupptementaI lnformation

692 S.8th Street, Kalamazoo, Ml

Appticant is seeking a frontage variance from the Township of Oshtemo Zoning Board to sptit
the 692 S. 8h Street property as shown on the attached diagram from the parent parcel commonty
known as 604 S. 8s Street.

The proposed new parcel zoned l-1 has an existing 19,000 SF industriat buitding on the site
and woutd have approximatety 3.8 acres of land once sptit. The reason for the variance request is

that the frontage on KL Avenue fatts short of the required 200' of frontage required by the l-1 zoning
ordinance by approximately 21 .57'.

Addressing the Standards of Approvat of a Nonuse Variance:

Conformance is [Jnnecessarilv Burdensome:
a. Denial of the Variance woutd prevent the tot sptit, which prevents occupant

ownership of the property as desired by Appticant.
b. The existing parcel contains muttiple facitities currentty under common ownership

but occupied by separate businesses. lt is necessary to separate the parcet for 1 )

future growth of the businesses; 2) operations, and 3) success of the various
occupants.

c. Acquisition ot the parcets to the east and west have not been feasibte due to costs,
tocation of septic field, and/or unwittingness of the property owners to transact.

2. Substantiallustic6:
a, lt appears other properties in the area with l-1 zoning have received waivers ot the

frontage requirement in the past including: 624 & 628 s. 8th street, which may
estabtish township precedent.

3. Unique Physical Circumstances:
a. At one time, there was over 200'of frontage on KL Avenue for the subject parcet.

However, 31 ' of the property was transferred to the east mutti-tamity units at 7106 W
KL Avenue to address the issue that their septic/drain fietds tie in this 31' of frontage.
This hardship was not created by the current owner of the property- White an

easement coutd be created for the septic tanks/fietds, the owner of the 7106 W KL

Avenue parcel has been unwitting to selt us the trontage required as it woutd affect
his loan requirements.

15



b. Acquisition of the West parcel at 7190 W KL Avenue has also proved to be a dead
end. The owner is not tooking to setl untess they can achieve doubte the market
price.

4. Self-CreatedHardship:
a. As stated above, there was over 200'of frontage on KL Avenue at one tlme for the

subject parcet; however, a previous owner (not the current owner) was forced to
transfer 31 ' to the east parceI as thelr septic tanks/fietds sat in that 31 'area, resulting
in less than 200' of frontage for the subject parcet.

5. WilL the spirit of the Ordinance be observed. the pubtic heaLth, safety and welfare
secured and substantialjustice done if the variance is granted?:

a. ln our opinion, yes. The granting ofthe variance witt not resutt in any adverse impacts
to adjacent properties or the pubtic. A variance woutd altow businesses atready in
operation on the property to continue but with the ownership of their own tand and
buitdings. Since the subject property atready has vehicular access from I'h Street, no

driveways outto KLwoutd be necessary and so there would not be an impact to traffic
on KL. ln addition, the density of devetopment on the north side of KL woutd not be

changed or increased by the granting of the variance, since the properties and
buitdings affected are atl existing. The 21 .57' deficit is for a septic system which has
no visuat or aesthetic impact from the roadway and existing structures witt maintain
a appropriate spacing as if the 200'of frontage existed. The past sate of 31 'to the east
property actuatty provides for the pubtic safety, heatth and wetfare of the residents of
that property by allowing the septic system to remain and be

owned/operated/maintained by that tandowner.

As we work together to better the community of Oshtemo, we appreciate your consideration of this
request.

16



Holland, MI
616-396-0255

Grand Rapids, MI
616-249-3800

Kalamazoo, MI
269-544-1455

Ypsilanti, MI
734-368-9483

Lansing, MI
517-889-6210

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTIONS

0' 40' 80'

SCALE: 1"=80'

160'

A
G

M
 P

A
R

C
E

L
60

4 
S

. 8
TH

 S
TR

E
E

T,
 K

A
LA

M
A

Z
O

O
, M

I 4
90

09
S

E
C

TI
O

N
 2

2,
 T

02
S

, R
12

W
, O

S
H

TE
M

O
 T

W
P

., 
K

A
LA

M
A

Z
O

O
 C

O
.

N
A

I W
IS

IN
S

K
I O

F 
W

E
S

T 
M

IC
H

IG
A

N
10

0 
G

R
A

N
D

V
IL

LE
 D

R
IV

E
 S

W
, G

R
A

N
D

 R
A

P
ID

S
, M

I 4
95

03

-F
O

R
-

Sheet #

V-101
1 of 1

Date:

Project #

Sheet Title:

SKETCH OF
DESCRIPTIONS

Scale:

Drawn By:

GLK

1"=80'

06-13-2023

2350438.5A

SCHEDULE "A" LEGAL DESCRIPTION
FROM:  SUN TITLE AGENCY OF MICHIGAN

COMMITMENT NO.:  222330 (COMMITMENT DATE: 05/08/2023)

LAND SITUATED IN THE TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO, KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN:

PARCEL 1
PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 22, TOWN 2 SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST, DESCRIBED AS: COMMENCING
AT THE EAST 1/4 CORNER OF SAID SECTION, THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST,
642.35 FEET ALONG THE EAST-WEST 1/4 LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID
LINE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST 178.42 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 06
MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST 562.47 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST 5/8 OF THE EAST 1/2 OF THE
NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 35 SECONDS EAST, 420.43 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST 311.67 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST
400.00 FEET OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 35 SECONDS
WEST 211.62 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 250.80 FEET OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID
SECTION TO A POINT WHICH IS 611.35 FEET WEST OF THE EAST 1/4 CORNER OF SAID SECTION MEASURED
PERPENDICULAR TO THE EAST-WEST 1/4 LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 25
SECONDS EAST 154.80 FEET PERPENDICULAR TO THE EAST-WEST 1/4 LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH
89 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST 31.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 25 SECONDS
EAST 96.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

ALSO

PARCEL 2
COMMENCING ON THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 22, TOWN 2 SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST; THENCE SOUTH
00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 45 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 22, 1,780.82 FEET TO THE
PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 51 MINUTES 15 SECONDS WEST, 820.71 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 02 SECONDS EAST, 287.97 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 52 MINUTES 45
SECONDS EAST, 420.94 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 45 SECONDS WEST, 88.15 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 52 MINUTES 45 EAST, 400 FEET TO EAST LINE OF SECTION 22; THENCE ALONG
SECTION LINE NORTH 00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 45 SECONDS WEST, 200 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

TOGETHER WITH AN EASEMENT FOR INGRESS AND EGRESS OVER THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PARCEL:
COMMENCING AT THE EAST 1/4 POST OF SECTION 22, TOWN 2 SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST; THENCE NORTH ALONG
THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 22, 650.80 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 33.00 FEET EITHER
SIDE OF A LINE RUNNING WEST 400.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF ENDING.

SCHEDULE B-II EXCEPTIONS
FROM:  SUN TITLE AGENCY OF MICHIGAN

COMMITMENT NO.:  222330 (COMMITMENT DATE: 05/08/2023)

RIGHT OF WAY IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 273 ON PAGE 535. (BLANKET EASEMENT OVER ENTIRE PARCEL - ROUTE SHOWN ON
DRAWING)

RIGHT OF WAY IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 567 ON PAGE 308.(BLANKET EASEMENT OVER ENTIRE PARCEL - APPROXIMATE
ROUTE FALLS OUTSIDE OF DRAWING LIMITS)

RIGHT OF WAY IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 804 ON PAGE 839. (BLANKET EASEMENT OVER ENTIRE PARCEL - ROUTE SHOWN ON
DRAWING)

EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 901 ON PAGE 191. (SHOWN ON DRAWING)

TERMS, COVENANTS, AND CONDITIONS OF QUIT CLAIM DEED, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 917 ON PAGE 838.
(SHOWN ON DRAWING)

EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF MICHIGAN BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY, AS RECORDED AS IN LIBER 1193 ON
PAGE 1127. (SHOWN ON DRAWING)

EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 1464 ON PAGE 1450. (SHOWN ON DRAWING)

EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF CONSUMERS POWER COMPANY (NOW KNOWN AS CONSUMERS ENERGY), AS
RECORDED IN LIBER 1464 ON PAGE 1458. (SHOWN ON DRAWING)

TERMS, COVENANTS, AND CONDITIONS OF WATER MAIN EASEMENT, AS RECORDED IN INSTRUMENT NO.
2001-010309. (SHOWN ON DRAWING)

NOTE:  THIS SKETCH IS FOR INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY.  OVERALL
BOUNDARY LINES AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE BASED ON
KALAMAZOO COUNTY GIS.

17



[This page left intentionally blank.]

18



19

lharris
Line

lharris
Line



20

lharris
Line

lharris
Line



21



 

[This page left intentionally blank] 

22



 

 

May 16, 2024 
 
Mtg Date:   May 21, 2024 
 
To:  Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
 
From:  Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator 
  
Applicant: Joseph Townsend 
 
Owner:  Dunshee Auto and Body 
 
Property: Property west of 6585 W KL Avenue, Parcel Number 05-23-335-021 
 
Zoning:  I-1: Industrial District 
 
Request: Site plan approval to construct a new office and vehicle service facility  
 
Section(s): 64 – Site Plan Review 

27 – I-1: Industrial District 
 
 
PROPOSAL:  
Joseph Townsend, on behalf of Dunshee Auto and Body, is requesting site plan approval to construct an 
11,957 square foot building with corresponding site details on Parcel Number 05-23-335-021. The 
proposed building will serve as an office space and an auto body shop. The project area under 
consideration is outlined in blue in the map excerpt below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AERIAL MAP OF PARCEL NUMBER 05-23-335-021 

W KL AVE 

S 8TH ST 

N 

23



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Dunshee Auto and Body -  
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 2 

 
ANALYSIS: 
The entirety of the property in question is zoned I-1: Industrial District. Uses permitted in the I-1 zoning 
district are outlined in Article 27 of the Township’s Zoning Code. Auto body and paint shops are identified 
as Permitted Uses within this section. New construction of a Permitted Use requires the review and 
approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals (Section 64.20). Below is an analysis of the proposal against 
Section 64: Site Plan Review.   
 
Section 64: Site Plan Review 

General Zoning Compliance: 
Zoning: The site at Parcel Number 05-23-335-021 is zoned I-1: Industrial 
District. All properties surrounding this proposed new site are also within the 
I-1 Zoning District. The proposed auto body shop is a Permitted Use by right within said 
district.  
 
Lot Dimensions: Parcels within the I-1 
Zoning District require a minimum area 
of 50,000 square feet and frontage of 
200 feet (Section 50.10.A). The 
proposed Dunshee Auto and Body site 
has nearly 254 feet of frontage along 
West KL Avenue and an area of 63,1625 
square feet. The proposed property 
exceeds the dimensional standards of 
the code. An excerpt of the site plan is 
provided on the right. 
 
Setbacks: Properties within the I-1 
District, and located on KL Avenue, 
have a front yard setback of 70 feet. 
The minimum setback distance 
between any building and any rear or interior side property line shall be 20 feet or the height of 
the abutting side of the building at its highest point as measured from the grade of the property 
line, whichever is greater (Section 50.60). The proposed building is 19 feet 8 inches at its highest 
and 18 feet at its eave. 24 feet tall on an overall flat terrain, requiring a 24-foot side and rear yard 
setback. A 20-foot setback is provided on the east and rear property line and a 35-foot setback is 
provided on the west property line.  
 
Access and Circulation 
Access: Although the proposed lot has frontage to KL Avenue, the site will be accessed from an 
existing access drive to the site from the site immediately to the east. No new driveways are 
proposed to the site. To accomplish this, the applicant will enter into the necessary cross access 
easement agreements and provide such to the Township prior to building permit issuance. All 
aisles within the proposed site plan will be a minimum of 24 feet wide.  
 
Parking: Per Section 52.50, 30 parking spaces are required, and 30 spaces are provided, along with 
the two required ADA accessible spaces. All stalls are 10 feet by 20 feet, with the ADA spaces 
being concrete, meeting Township standards. 

C CRZ 

 

24



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Dunshee Auto and Body -  
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 3 

 
Sidewalk: Per Section 57.90, sidewalks indicated on the Township’s Non-motorized Plan shall be 
installed by the developer when properties adjacent to planned nonmotorized facilities receive 
site plan approval from the municipality. The Township’s adopted Non-motorized Plan does not 
show any facilities on the south side of W KL Avenue, besides a paved shoulder/bike lane. 
Therefore, this section is not relevant. 
 
Building Design 
Façade: Exterior materials for the proposed Dunshee Auto and Body include Ashley Grey vertical 
ribbed siding, asphalt roof shingles, burnished CMU wall, aluminum gutter and downspout, and 
various white doors. Snapshots from the north and east elevation details are included below.  
 

 

 
 
Trash and Recycling Containers: The applicant is proposing to locate the site’s dumpster on the 
far southeast portion of the parking lot away from public view. The screening is proposed to be 
constructed of wood framing and posts and is proposed to be 6 feet tall from grade. This location 
and the proposed screening meet the requirements of Code Section 53.60 Screening of Trash and 
Recycling Containers.  
 
Lighting: The applicant has provided a Photometric plan. Eight cut-off wall mounted light fixtures 
are proposed at 12 feet in height at various locations on the building. Per the Township Lighting 
Ordinance, wall mounted lights shall not be mounted higher than 14-feet above grade on a 
building. Requirements for the proposed wall fixtures have been met. 
 
Signage: The applicant has indicated that there will not be any new signage. If the applicant 
chooses to do so, the signage shall be reviewed and approved through the signage application 
process. 
 
Landscaping 
The applicant has provided a landscaping plan that meets Township standards. The current plan 
shows 14 canopy trees, 54 shrubs, and 13 understory trees. A six-foot wood fence has also been 
proposed on the west property line to provide additional screening and to serve as a buffer 
between land uses.  

25



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Dunshee Auto and Body -  
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 4 

 
Engineering  
The Oshtemo Township Public Works Department reviewed the project site plan. Overall, most 
on-site concerns have been addressed; however, there are still a few concerns with respects to 
stormwater and a few other minor details. Staff is confident that these items can be addressed 
through administrative review and approval by the Township. 
 
Fire Department 
The Township Fire Marshal is satisfied with the site design.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the Zoning Board of Appeals approve the proposed Site Plan for a 11,957 square 
foot office and body shop building on Parcel Number 05-23-335-021 for Dunshee Auto and Body with the 
conditions outlined below.  
 

1. The Environmental Permits Checklist and the Hazardous Substance Reporting Form shall be 
submitted to Planning Department and approved prior to building permit issuance. 

2. Copies of the necessary recorded easements shall be provided to Planning Department prior to 
the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 

3. Finalization of any engineering details pertaining to the site plan shall be submitted for 
administrative review and approval prior to building permit issuance. 

4. A SESC Permit will be required from the Kalamazoo County Drain Commission prior to building 
permit issuance. 

5. An address request form shall be submitted and approved by the Township prior to building 
permit issuance.  
 

Attachments:  Application 
  Site Plan Set 

26



27



28



© 2024 Microsoft Corporation © 2023 Maxar ©CNES (2023) Distribution Airbus DS 

© 2024 Microsoft Corporation © 2023 TomTom 

C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T

JOE TOWNSEND
6585 W KL AVE
KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
(269) 375 2100

MITTEN STATE ENGINEERING
10123 S M-43, SUITE E
DELTON, MI 49046
(269) 364 5626
TYLER CRAVENS

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING PLANS
DUNSHEE BODY & FRAME, INC.

6585 W KL AVE
KALAMAZOO, MI 49009

PROJECT TEAM

UTILITY AND AGENCY CONTACTS

ELECTRIC:

GAS:

TELEPHONE:

CONSUMERS ENGERGY
(800) 778 9140

CONSUMERS ENERGY
(800) 778 9140

AT&T TELEPHONE
1435 MILTON STREET
BENTON HARBOR, MI
CHRIS O'BRIEN
(810) 407 3523

FIBER OPTIC:

WATER / SEWER:

"MISS DIG"

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS
(800) 778 9140

COMCAST CABLE TV
25626 TELEGRAPH ROAD
SOUTHFIELD, MI 48034
JEFF DOBIES
(855) 962 8525

KALAMAZOO CITY DPS
POTABLE WATER
150 E CROSSTOWN PARKWAY
SUITE A
KALAMAZOO, MI 49001
(269) 337 8000
311@KALAMAZOOCITY.ORG

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP
SANITARY SEWER
7275 W MAIN STREET
KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
(269) 216 5252
PUBLICWORKS@OSHTEMO.ORG

811

LOCATION MAP
N.T.S.

SHEET LIST TABLE
SHEET NUMBER SHEET TITLE

C001 COVER SHEET

C102

SITE PLAN

C103

GRADING PLAN

C104

C105

EROSION CONTROL PLAN

 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

OCBA
141 E MICHIGAN AVE
KALAMAZOO, MI 49007
(269) 381 3357
KATIE CHASE

NEDERVELD, INC.
217 GRANDVILLE AVE.
SW STE 302
GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49503
(800) 222 1868

OWNER:

CIVIL ENGINEER:

LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT:

SURVEYOR:

DRIESENGA & ASSOCIATES, INC.
12330 JAMES STREET, SUITE H80
HOLLAND, MI 49424
(616) 396 0255

SLOCUM ARCHITECTS
5945 WEST MAIN STREET
SUITE 102
KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
(269) 381 2420
JEFF CRITES

GEOTECHNICAL
ENGINEER:

ARCHITECT:

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

C101

EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION PLAN

PROJECT NOTES
1. THE "2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION" AND "STANDARD PLANS" BY THE MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT

OF TRANSPORTATION (MDOT) ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED INTO THESE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

2. THE PLACING OF TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS AND PAVEMENT MARKINGS SHALL BE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
2011 MICHIGAN MANUAL OF UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES (MMUTCD), AS AMENDED.

3. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO ALL LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS IN FORCE AT THE
TIME OF CONSTRUCTION.

4. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING CONSTRUCTION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS INVOLVED WITH
CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND REPORTING ANY ERRORS OR DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN
THESE PLANS AND/OR PLANS PREPARED BY OTHERS. IF ANY ERRORS, DISCREPANCIES, OR OMISSIONS BECOME
APPARENT, THESE SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION OF
ANYTHING AFFECTED SO THAT CLARIFICATION OR REDESIGN MAY OCCUR.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR POSTING ALL BONDS AND INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND
SUBMITTING TRAFFIC CONTROL PLANS FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL WHICH MAY BE REQUIRED BY THE CITY,
TOWNSHIP, AND/OR MDOT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT WITHIN THE ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY FOR THESE PERMITS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. IN ACCORDANCE WITH PUBLIC ACT 174 OF 2013, ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL CALL MISS DIG @ 811 OR 800-428-7171 FOR
PROTECTION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES A MINIMUM OF THREE FULL WORKING DAYS (EXCLUDING SATURDAYS,
SUNDAYS, AND HOLIDAYS) PRIOR TO BEGINNING EACH EXCAVATION IN ANY AREA. MEMBERS WILL THUS BE ROUTINELY
NOTIFIED. THIS DOES NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR OF THE RESPONSIBILITY OF NOTIFYING UTILITY OWNERS WHO
MAY NOT BE A PART OF THE "MISS DIG" ALERT SYSTEM.

LANDSCAPE PLAN

PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

L101

PH101

UTILITY PLAN

TL
B

C
R

Z TW
C

ADDRESS:
10123 S M43, SUITE E
DELTON, MI 49046

PHONE:
(269) 364-5626

AS
 N

O
TE

D
- P

REL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
-

NOT 
FO

R C
ONST

RUCTI
ON

D
U

N
SH

EE
BO

D
Y 

& 
FR

AM
E,

 IN
C

.
KA

LA
M

AZ
O

O
, M

I

1
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
1

03
/0

5/
20

24
TL

B

2
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
2

03
/2

9/
20

24
TL

B

3
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 C

O
M

M
EN

T
04

/1
8/

20
24

TL
B

C100
N

C001

PROJECT
AREA

W KL AVENUE

EXISTING
DUNSHEE

BODY
& FRAME

EXISTING
HOUSE

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
SEC 23-2-12 BEG ON E & W 1/4 LI 1574' E OF W 1/4 POST TH CON'T E ALG SD 1/4 LI 239.9' TH S 258' TO MICHIGAN CENTRAL
RR ROW TH SWLY ALG SD ROW TO A PT S OF BEG TH N TO BEG *****06/03 SPLIT AND COMBINE FROM 23-335-010 & -020-
TO FORM 23-335-011 AND 021****

131

RAILROAD

PROJECT AREA

C106

29

AutoCAD SHX Text
23132

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/06/2024

tyler
Image



CONCRETE FILLED BOLLARD, 22 TOTAL (SEE DETAILS)

TL
B

C
R

Z TW
C

ADDRESS:
10123 S M43, SUITE E
DELTON, MI 49046

PHONE:
(269) 364-5626

AS
 N

O
TE

D
- P

REL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
-

NOT 
FO

R C
ONST

RUCTI
ON

D
U

N
SH

EE
BO

D
Y 

& 
FR

AM
E,

 IN
C

.
KA

LA
M

AZ
O

O
, M

I

1
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
1

03
/0

5/
20

24
TL

B

2
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
2

03
/2

9/
20

24
TL

B

3
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 C

O
M

M
EN

T
04

/1
8/

20
24

TL
B

N

1 inch =          ft.

0

20

20 30 40

4" WIDE PAINTED SOLID BLUE LINE, TYP.

4" WIDE PAINTED SOLID YELLOW LINE AT 45 DEGREES, TYP.

ZONING: I-1 INDUSTRIAL
SITE AREA: 1.28 ACRES (55,554 SF)
BUILDING AREA: 11,957 SF (21%)
BUILDING HEIGHT: 18' AT EAVE, 19'8" AT PEAK
NUMBER OF STORIES: 1
IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE: 33,968 SF (61%)
PROPOSED GREEN SPACE: 21,586 SF (39%)

BUILDING SETBACKS:
FRONT: 70 FT FROM ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY
SIDE: 20 FT
REAR: 20 FT

OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS (52.110C OTHER USES):
STANDARD PARKING SPACE: 20 FT X 10 FT

30 PARKING SPACES AS DIRECTED BY TOWNSHIP ZONING ADMINISTRATOR

TOTAL SPACES REQUIRED: 30 SPACES
TOTAL SPACES PROVIDED: 30 SPACES
ADA PARKING SPACES REQUIRED: 2
ADA PARKING SPACES PROVIDED: 2

SITE INFORMATION

SITE GENERAL NOTES
1. DIMENSIONS REFER TO THE FACE OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

2. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY AND STRUCTURES ON
SITE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY OF ANY
DISCREPANCIES.

3. BUILDING DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE OUTSIDE FACE OF BUILDING, UNLESS NOTED
OTHERWISE.

4. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL AND STRUCTURAL PLANS TO VERIFY ALL BUILDING
DIMENSIONS.

PAVEMENT LEGEND

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT:
SEE DETAILS

STANDARD DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT:
SEE DETAILS

STANDARD DUTY PAVEMENT:
1.5" HMA (165#/SYD) 5E1 TOP COURSE
1.5" HMA (165#/SYD) 4E1 LEVELING COURSE
8" AGGREGATE BASE, 22A
12" SUBBASE, CIP

TYPE F4 CURB AND GUTTER (SEE DETAILS)

KEY NOTES

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE SIDEWALK, TYP. (SEE DETAILS)

ACCESSIBLE PAVEMENT MARKINGS, TYP. (SEE DETAILS)

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN, TYP. (MUTCD D9-6) (MICHIGAN ACT 182 AND 183)

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN, TYP. (MUTCD R7-8P) (MICHIGAN ACT 182 AND 183)

4" WIDE PAINTED SOLID WHITE LINE, TYP.

REFUSE ENCLOSURE (SEE DETAILS)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

C101

PROPOSED
BUILDING

11,957 SFT

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

70' FRONT SETBACK

20
' S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K

20
' S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K

W KL AVENUE

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

20' REAR SETBACK

PROPERTY LINE

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

42.6'

30
' R

EQ
U

IR
ED

 G
R

EE
N

BE
LT

ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY

20' REQUIRED GREENBELT

15' REQUIRED GREENBELT

40
.0

'

1

2

16

2

3

4

5

6

6

4" WIDE PAINTED SOLID YELLOW LINE, TYP.

4" WIDE PAINTED SOLID BLUE LINE AT 45 DEGREES, TYP.

7

8

7

8

10

11

12

12

12

10.0'

20
.0

'

10.0'20
.0

'
25

.5
'

18
.4

'

43
.0

'

24.8'

49.0'

130.3' 5.0' 37.0'

24
.0

'

10.0'

1

9 1

1

10

9

1

17
.3

'

5.0' 10.3'

20.0'
15.0'

55.8'

R5.0'

R20.0'

R10.0'

R10.0'

11.2'

39
.0

'

20
.0

'
24

.0
'

R5.0'

1

CONCRETE AND ASPHALT
ARE FLUSH (TYP)

1212

12 12

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN
(SEE GRADING AND UTILITY PLAN)

EXPAND EXISTING STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT BASIN

(SEE GRADING AND UTILITY PLAN)

10.0'51.1'

4

6

9

57.4'

70.7'

DESIGNATED LOADING AND UNLOADING AREA13

13

PROPOSED INGRESS/EGRESS SHARED ACCESS EASEMENT.30
.0

'

179.6'

54
.7

'

FIRE TRUCK TURNING RADIUS (30/50)14

14

14

5.0' 10.0'

6' PRIVACY FENCE (SEE DETAILS)15

15

20
1.

1'

27.0'

36.1'

10.0'

41
.5

'
80

.3
'

16.8'

5.
0'

5.0'

STANDARD DUTY CONCRETE SIDEWALK16

2

70
.0

'

2 2

2

2

2

15

6' WOOD PRIVACY FENCE
(SEE DETAIL, SHEET C106)

6' WOOD PRIVACY FENCE
(SEE DETAIL, SHEET C106)

3

3

3

15
3

30

AutoCAD SHX Text
23132

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/06/2024

tyler
Image



TL
B

C
R

Z TW
C

ADDRESS:
10123 S M43, SUITE E
DELTON, MI 49046

PHONE:
(269) 364-5626

AS
 N

O
TE

D
- P

REL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
-

NOT 
FO

R C
ONST

RUCTI
ON

D
U

N
SH

EE
BO

D
Y 

& 
FR

AM
E,

 IN
C

.
KA

LA
M

AZ
O

O
, M

I

1
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
1

03
/0

5/
20

24
TL

B

2
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
2

03
/2

9/
20

24
TL

B

3
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 C

O
M

M
EN

T
04

/1
8/

20
24

TL
B

N

1 inch =          ft.

0

20

20 30 40

PH
O

TO
M

ET
R

IC
 P

LA
N

PH101

PROPOSED
BUILDING

11,957 SFT

PR
O

PER
TY LIN

E

W KL AVENUE

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

PROPERTY LINE

PR
O

PER
TY LIN

E

ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY

RAILROAD

LUMENS

KELVIN RATING

KELVIN RATING

KELVIN RATING

CRI = 70

CRI = 70

CRI = 70

2

2

31

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
A @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
A @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
B @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
B @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
B @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
B @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
B @ 12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23132

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/06/2024

tyler
Image



RESIDENTIAL
LAND USE

20
'

GR
EE

NB
EL

T
TO

 P
UB

LIC
RO

W

15' GREENBELT
TO PRIVATE

ROW

MULCH, TYP. METAL EDGING,
DETAIL 5/L1.0

METAL EDGING,
DETAIL 5/L1.0

MULCH, TYP.

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

KL AVE

PROPOSED
BUILDING

RAILROAD PRIVATE
RIGHT OF WAY

LAWN

STORMWATER SEED MIX

METAL EDGING,
DETAIL 5/L1.0

6' HT. FENCE

Scale: 1" = 20'-0"

PROPERTY LINE

PLANT TAG- REFERS TO TYPE AND NUMBER  OF PLANTINGS
TO BE PROVIDED AND MAINTAINED BY CONTRACTOR.

METAL EDGING

PROPOSED SHRUB

SYMBOL

PROPOSED EVERGREEN TREE

PROPOSED DECIDUOUS TREE

DESCRIPTION DETAIL

2 / L101

1. SURVEY OF EXISTING CONDITIONS PROVIDED BY MITTEN STATE ENGINEERING, 10123 S M43, SUITE E,
DELTON, MICHIGAN 49046, (269) 364-5626.

2. CALL "MISS DIG" AND VERIFY ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES PRIOR TO BEGINNING WORK.  72 HOURS
BEFORE YOU DIG CALL "MISS DIG" AT 1-800-482-7171. ANY UTILITIES DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION SHALL
BE REPAIRED AT CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

3. ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THESE PLANS AND ACTUAL FIELD CONDITIONS SHOULD BE REPORTED TO
THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER IMMEDIATELY FOR RESOLUTION.

4. IN AREAS OF NEW TURF PLACE 4" MINIMUM TOPSOIL, FINE GRADE & ESTABLISH TURF WITHIN SEED LIMIT
LINES.

5. PLACE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH TO A 3" DEPTH IN ALL TREE & SHRUB BEDS & TO A 2" DEPTH IN ALL
GROUND COVER BEDS.

6. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, TOPSOIL, FINE GRADE AND SEED ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHIN THE SEEDING
LIMIT SHOWN AND AREAS DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.

7. REPAIR AND RESTORE ANY DAMAGE OUTSIDE OF LIMIT OF WORK LINE TO ORIGINAL CONDITION.

8. PROTECT ALL TREES AND EXISTING FEATURES TO REMAIN AS SPECIFIED.

9. ALL TOPSOIL AND EXCESS FILL MATERIAL SHALL BE STOCKPILED ON SITE SEPARATELY FOR  LATER RE-USE.
LOCATE STOCKPILES IN AREAS AS DIRECTED BY CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND PROTECT FROM EFFECTS OF
EROSION.

10. ALL NURSERY STOCK SHALL BE TRUE TO TYPE AND NAME.  ALL STOCK SHALL BE FIRST CLASS QUALITY WITH
WELL DEVELOPED BRANCH SYSTEMS AND VIGOROUS HEALTHY ROOT SYSTEMS.  ALL STOCK SHALL BE WELL
FORMED AND THE TRUNKS OF TREES SHALL BE UNIFORM AND STRAIGHT.

11. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE TO LOCATE SITE LIGHTING SERVICES. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE TO NOTIFY
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER IF DAMAGE TO LIGHTING ELECTRICAL DISTRIBUTION OCCURS.

12. ALL AREAS OF TREE CLEARING SHALL BE STAKED FOR ARCHITECTS APPROVAL PRIOR TO CLEARING.

13. UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, ALL PERENNIALS, GRASSES AND GROUNDCOVERS SHALL BE GROWN IN
THEIR CONTAINER FOR ONE YEAR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

4 / L101

3 / L101

5 / L101

SYM. BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE ROOT SPACING STATUS

TREES

AF Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Freeman Maple 2" CAL. B&B PER PLANS NATIVAR

AG Amelanchier x grandiflora 'Robin Hill' Robin Hill Serviceberry 2" CAL B&B PER PLANS NATIVAR

CC Carpinus caroliniana Hornbeam 2" CAL B&B PER PLANS NATIVE

NS Nyssa sylvatica Black Gum 2" CAL B&B PER PLANS NATIVE

SR Syringa reticulata Japanese Tree Lilac 2" CAL. B&B PER PLANS NON-NATIVE

EVERGREENS

JS Juniperus scopulorum 'Wichita' Wichita Blue Juniper 8'-10' Ht. B&B PER PLANS NATIVAR

PG Picea glauca 'Densata' Black Hills Spruce 8'-10' Ht. B&B PER PLANS NATIVAR

TO Thuja occidentalis 'Degroot's Spire' Degroots Spire Arborvitae 6' HT. B&B PER PLANS NATIVAR

SHRUBS

CAH Clethra alnifolia 'Hummingbird' Sweet Pepperbush 24" Ht. CONT. 3' O.C. NON-NATIVE

CS Cornus sericea Red Twig Dogwood 24" Ht. CONT. 5' O.C. NATIVE

RA Rhus aromatica 'Gro Low' 'Gro Low' Sumac 2 GAL. CONT. 5' O.C. NATIVAR

locum
rchitects

AIAa

SHEET TITLE

5945 West Main Street, Suite. 102
Kalamazoo, Michigan 49009
Ph (269)381-2420  Fax (269)381-3399

ISSUED

JOB NUMBER

FILE NAME

www.slocumarchitects.com

D
u
n
s
h
ee

 B
o
d
y
 a

n
d
 F

r
a
m
e,
 I
n
c
.

6
5
8
5
 W

 K
L
 A

v
e.

N
ew

 F
a
c
il
it
y
 F

o
r
:

K
a
la

m
a
z
o
o
, 
M
I 
4
9
0
0
9

2320

Landscape Plan

L101

ZONING DISTRICT: I-1 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT, MANUFACTURING/SERVICING

ADJACENT PROPERTIES: INDUSTRIAL ZONED TO THE EAST AND WEST, RESIDENTIAL LAND USE ADJACENT ON THE
WEST, RAILROAD PRIVATE RIGHT-OF-WAY TO THE SOUTH.

LANDSCAPE BUFFER
· 30 FT. WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY WITH 2 CANOPY TREES + 2

EVERGREEN TREES + 2 UNDERSTORY TREES FOR EVERY 100 LINEAR FT. + SCREENING UP TO 6' HT.
· EVERGREENS MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR CANOPY OR UNDERSTORY TREES
· 240 LINEAR FT. BOUNDARY = 6 CANOPY TREES + 6 EVERGREEN TREES + 6 UNDERSTORY TREES + SCREENING

OR 18 EVERGREENS + SHRUB SCREENING

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING
LOTS WITH 11 OR MORE SPACES REQUIRE 25 SF PER SPACE OF ISLANDS/PENINSULAS
1 CANOPY TREE AND 2 SHRUBS FOR EVERY 200 SF OF REQ'D LANDSCAPING

30 SPACES = 750 SF OF ISLANDS/PENINSULAS WITH 4 CANOPY TREES AND 8 SHRUBS

GREENBELTS
20 FT. WIDE ALONG PUBLIC ROW (NORTH ALONG KL AVE)
MIN. OF 1 CANOPY TREE + 2 UNDERSTORY TREES FOR EVERY 100 LF
1.5 SHRUBS FOR EVERY 1 PARKING SPACE
15 PARKING SPACES = 23 SHRUBS
REMAINDER LANDSCAPED WITH GRASS, GROUND COVER, SHRUBS, ETC.
240 LFT. = 3 CANOPY TREES + 5 UNDERSTORY TREES

15 FT. WIDE ALONG PRIVATE ROW (SOUTH ALONG RAILROAD)
MIN. OF 1 CANOPY TREE + 2 UNDERSTORY TREES FOR EVERY 100 LF
1.5 SHRUBS FOR EVERY 1 PARKING SPACE
15 PARKING SPACES = 23 SHRUBS
REMAINDER LANDSCAPED WITH GRASS, GROUND COVER, SHRUBS, ETC.
240 LFT. = 3 CANOPY TREES + 5 UNDERSTORY TREES

INTERIOR LANDSCAPING
10% OF THE DEVELOPED AREA OF THE PARCEL LANDSCAPED
1 CANOPY TREE FOR EVERY 1,500 SF + 1 UNDERSTORY TREE FOR EVERY 2,500 SF
55,554 SFT OF DEVELOPED AREA
10% = 5,555 SFT  WHICH REQUIRES 4 CANOPY TREES + 3 UNDERSTORY TREES

NATIVE SPECIES
75% OF ALL TREES NATIVE
50% OF ALL LANDSCAPE MATERIAL

    141 E. Michigan Avenue, Suite 500
                Kalamazoo Michigan 49007
                         Phone (269) 381-3357
                             Fax (269) 381-2944

L  A  N  D  S  C  A  P  E
A  R  C  H  I  T  E  C  T  S

IMPORTANT NOTE:  SET TOP OF
ROOTBALL OR ROOT FLAIR AT OR
SIGHTLY ABOVE FINISHED GRADE

Not To Scale

12" MIN.

2 X
ROOTBALL

PLANTING MIXTURE

9" DEPTH SETTING LAYER OF 50%
PLANTING MIXTURE TILLED INTO
EXISTING SOIL AND COMPACTED

4" MULCH - FORM SAUCER AROUND
SHRUB9"

TYP.

Not To Scale

IMPORTANT NOTE:  SET TOP OF
ROOTBALL OR ROOT FLAIR AT OR
SIGHTLY ABOVE FINISHED GRADE

Not To Scale

TOP OF ROOT FLARE
TREE
HEIGHT
MEASUREMENT
BEGINS AT
TOP OF
ROOT FLARE

SEE TREE HT. DETAIL

TOP OF LEADER

EQ
UA

L

SP
EC

IF
IE

D 
TR

EE
H

EI
G

H
T

EQ
UA

L
UPPERMOST
WHORL

TREE HEIGHT DETAIL

SP
EC

IF
IE

D 
TR

EE
 H

EI
G

H
T

2 X ROOTBALL

12"
MIN.

12"
MIN.

TOPSOIL, REFER TO SPECS AND
PLANTING PLAN FOR DEPTH.

15" METAL STAKE MUST BE
INSTALLED ON PLANTING BED SIDE
OF EDGING

FINISH GRADE 1/2" BELOW TOP
SURFACE OF EDGING

LAWN OR GROUND COVER

METAL LANDSCAPE EDGING 1/8" X 4"

Not To Scale

4" MULCH - FORM SAUCER

REMOVE BURLAP, WIRE BASKET, AND ALL TWINE OR
ROPE FROM TOP 13 OF ROOT BALL

PLANTING SOIL MIX,TREAT WITH MYCHORRIZAL
INOCULANT DURING BACKFILLING

SET TREE BALL ON 6" HIGH COMPACTED MOUND
WITH ROOT FLARE AT OR SLIGHTLY ABOVE FINISH
GRADE.

TREE WRAP TO FIRST BRANCH

UNDISTURBED SOIL

3" MULCH - FORM SAUCER
AROUND TREE

REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 13
OF BALL & ALL TWINE OR ROPE

PLANTING SOIL MIX, TREAT WITH
MYCHORRIZAL INOCULANT DURING
BACKFILLING

SET TREE BALL ON 6" HIGH COMPACTED
MOUND WITH ROOT FLARE AT OR
SLIGHTLY ABOVE FINAL GRADE

STORMWATER SEED MIX SEE SPECS

SPR 04/02/24

SPR 04/02/24

SPR 04/02/24

6' WOOD FENCE

SPR 04/17/24

SPR 04/17/24

REFER TO CIVIL

32

AutoCAD SHX Text
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TM

AutoCAD SHX Text
FP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
North

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Landscape Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bn

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FEATURES LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANT LIST:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
04/02/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deciduous Tree Planting Detail

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Shrub Planting Detail

AutoCAD SHX Text
Conifer Planting Detail

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
Metal Edging Detail

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN REVIEW - 02/06/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN REVIEW - 03/05/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN REVIEW - 04/02/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED - 04/17/24



TL
B

C
R

Z TW
C

ADDRESS:
10123 S M43, SUITE E
DELTON, MI 49046

PHONE:
(269) 364-5626

AS
 N

O
TE

D
- P

REL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
-

NOT 
FO

R C
ONST

RUCTI
ON

D
U

N
SH

EE
BO

D
Y 

& 
FR

AM
E,

 IN
C

.
KA

LA
M

AZ
O

O
, M

I

1
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
1

03
/0

5/
20

24
TL

B

2
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 S

PR
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 #
2

03
/2

9/
20

24
TL

B

3
PE

R
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP
 C

O
M

M
EN

T
04

/1
8/

20
24

TL
B

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH EXCAVATOR, LANDSCAPE, AND PAVING
SUBCONTRACTORS REGARDING TOPSOIL THICKNESS FOR LANDSCAPE AREAS AND
PAVEMENT SECTION THICKNESS FOR PAVED AREAS TO PROPERLY ENSURE
ADEQUATE CUT TO ESTABLISH SUBGRADE ELEVATIONS.

2. ALL EARTHEN SLOPES SHALL BE LESS THAN 4:1 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

3. THE MAXIMUM RUNNING SLOPE FOR ALL SIDEWALK SHALL NOT EXCEED 5% AND
CROSS SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 2%.

4. MAXIMUM SLOPE IN ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES AND LOADING ZONES SHALL NOT
EXCEED 2.0% IN ANY DIRECTION.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MATCH EXISTING ELEVATIONS AT THE PROPERTY LIMITS
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED .

6. TOP OF ASPHALT CURB SHALL BE 0.25' HIGHER THAN FLOWLINE ELEVATIONS UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

7. WHEN NATURAL FLOW OF DRAINAGE IS AWAY FROM THE CURB, THE CONTRACTOR
SHALL INSTALL REVERSE GUTTER PITCH.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND STOCKPILE TOPSOIL FROM ALL DISTURBED
AREAS DURING CONSTRUCTION. TOPSOIL SHALL NOT BE USED AS FILL FOR ANY
PAVEMENT, SIDEWALK, BUILDING, STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, OR
SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL EXCAVATE UNSUITABLE MATERIALS IN THE STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT POND FOOTPRINT AND REPLACE WITH CLASS II SAND TO GRADE.

10. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY MISS DIG (800-482-7171) TO COORDINATE FIELD
LOCATIONS OF ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING
CONSTRUCTION. NOTIFY ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.

GRADING NOTES

GRADING LEGEND
TC = TOP OF CURB

ME = MATCH ELEVATION

R = RIM ELEVATION

FG = FINISH GRADE

FL = FLOW LINE

TP = TOP OF PAVEMENT

EXISTING CONTOUR

PROPOSED CONTOUR

RIDGE LINE

PROPOSED SWALE

N

1 inch =          ft.

0

20

20 30 40

G
R

AD
IN

G
 P

LA
N

C102

PROPOSED
BUILDING

11,957 SFT
F.F.E. - 921.00

PROPERTY LINE

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PROPERTY LINE / RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING BUILDING
(TO REMAIN)

EXISTING BUILDING
(TO REMAIN)

RAILROAD

W KL AVENUE

EXISTING DRIVE
(TO REMAIN)

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN
TOP OF POND: 920.00

HIGH WATER LEVEL: 919.00
BOTTOM OF POND: 915.50

TOTAL VOLUME REQUIRED (CFT) (100-YR) = 11,443
BASIN VOLUME PROVIDED (CFT) = 5,719

PIPE AND STONE VOLUME PROVIDED (CFT) = 4,091
TOTAL PROVIDED STORAGE WEST BASIN (CFT) = 9,810

MATCH EXISTING ASPHALT.
CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE
SMOOTH TRANSITION

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN
TOP OF POND: 918.00

HIGH WATER LEVEL: 917.00
BOTTOM OF POND: 914.00

TOTAL VOLUME REQUIRED (CFT) (100-YR) = 11,443
ADDITIONAL BASIN VOLUME PROVIDED (CFT) = 3,035

TOTAL PROVIDED SITE STORAGE (CFT) = 12,845

2

2

2

2

33

AutoCAD SHX Text
23132

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/06/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

tyler
Image



34



35



[This page left intentionally blank.]

36



May 14, 2024 

Mtg Date:   May 21, 2024 

To: Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 

From:  Colten Hutson, Zoning Administrator 

Applicant: Kevin Denoyer, CommonSail Development 

Owner:  EPC Trevi LLC 

Property: 1700 Bronson Way, Parcel Number 05-12-455-017 

Zoning:  R-4: Residence District

Request: Site plan approval to construct a 21,075 SF building addition 

Section(s): Section 64: Site Plan Review 
Section 9: R-4: Residence District 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 
CommonSail Development, on behalf of the 
owner, EPC Trevi LLC, is requesting site plan 
approval to construct a 21,075 SF building 
addition onto the existing building located at 
1700 Bronson Way. Currently serving as an 
assisted living facility, the applicant is seeking 
to expand their operations to provide space 
for a new 28-bed memory care unit within the 
proposed building addition. The project site 
falls within the R-4: Residence District zoning 
designation. The property under 
consideration is outlined in light blue on the 
map to the right with the subject building 
addition illustrated through the red and white 
hatch marks.  

ANALYSIS: 
When reviewing this site plan review request, 
there is one set of criteria that needs to be 
considered: the general site plan review 
criteria outlined in Section 64. Section 64 
includes requirements on access, parking, non-motorized facilities, grading, utilities, drainage, along with 
other general requirements. An analysis of the proposed building addition project against said code 
section has been provided below. Overall, most of the requirements of Section 64 have been met.  

Croyden Ave

M
ap

le
 H

ill
 D

r 

37



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Story Point Kalamazoo at Bronson Place – Building Addition 
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 2 

 

Section 64: Site Plan Review 
General Zoning Compliance: 
Zoning: 1700 Bronson Way is zoned R-4: Residence District and is located within the 
northeast quadrant of the Township. The subject property abuts farmland to its east, 
single-family homes and a cell tower to its north, a hospice care facility to its south, and 
unimproved commercial property and a multi-family development to the west. Land that abuts 
to the north and east of the project area are zoned R-2: Residence District while property adjacent 
to the south is zoned R-4: Residence District. Property to the west is zoned R-4: Residence District 
and C: Local Business District. The existing assisted living use is a permitted use by right within the 
R-4: Residence District. The proposed memory care use is also permitted by right within the R-4: 
Residence District. With the proposed building addition, the percentage of land covered by 
buildings will increase to 14.1%. 16% of the 35-acre site is designated for open space.  

 

 
Access and Circulation 
Access: The site under consideration already possesses a full access point adjacent to Croyden 
Avenue. The property also has two emergency access drives, one along Beech Avenue to the north 
and one along the west end of the site where Maple Hill Drive currently terminates. The site is 
designed to accommodate two-way travel. All circulation aisles proposed meet the minimum 
width requirements outlined in the Township’s Zoning Ordinance. The Fire Marshal has reviewed 
the site plan and found it adequate to service emergency vehicle circulation.   
 
Parking: The site currently has 203 parking spaces in total, 120 of which are underground. All 
existing and proposed parking stalls are 10 Ft wide by 20 Ft deep. Nursing home uses are allowed 
one parking space for every two beds and one parking space per employee. The existing assisted 
living facility possesses 248 beds and 35 employees. The proposed memory care facility includes 
28 beds and 15 employees. After calculating the parking needed for the use proposed to occupy 

CRZ 

38



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Story Point Kalamazoo at Bronson Place – Building Addition 
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 3 

 

the site, a total of 188 parking spaces would be required for this site. Sufficient parking has been 
provided and all parking requirements are satisfied.  

 
Easements: There is a 20 Ft wide water easement proposed to run along the south side of the 
building addition. Said water easement will consist of 8” water main and will need to be dedicated 
to Oshtemo Township. Extension of such utilities will require coordination with the Public Services 
Department at the City of Kalamazoo. Other than the water easement, there are no other changes 
to easements on-site. 
 
Non-motorized: The Township’s Non-motorized Transportation Plan does identify a non-
motorized facility adjacent to the subject site on the north side of Croyden Avenue and the east 
side of Maple Hill Drive. A 5’ wide concrete sidewalk in said locations is currently proposed on the 
site plan. If any portion of the sidewalk results in being located outside of the public right-of-way 
in order to avoid safety concerns and utility conflicts, a sidewalk easement will be required to be 
recorded at the Kalamazoo County Register of Deeds Office.  

 
Building Design 
Building Information: The existing building located at 1700 Bronson Way was originally 
constructed in 1988 and is approximately 30 Ft tall. The proposed 21,075 SF building addition will 
be located on the east end of the existing building. The exterior material proposed for the addition 
is vinyl siding 
and brick 
masonry. The 
exterior of the 
addition will be 
harmonious 
with the 
existing façade 
and 
architectural 
features of the 
existing portion 
of the building. 
See images of 
the building’s 
elevations to 
the right.  
 
Lot Dimensions: The site under consideration is comprised of three parcels and is about 35 Acres 
and has approximately 1,680 Ft of road frontage adjacent to public roadway. Each parcel exceeds 
both the property area (50,000 SF minimum) and frontage (200 Ft minimum) requirements of the 
R-4: Residence District. The site’s dimensions satisfy zoning ordinance requirements.  
 
Setbacks: The building addition is proposed to be setback 246 Ft from the south property line, 87 
Ft from the east property line, approximately 325 Ft from the north property line along Beech 
Avenue, and 1,125 Ft from the west property line along Maple Hill Drive. The minimum setbacks 

39



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Story Point Kalamazoo at Bronson Place – Building Addition 
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 4 

outlined in the Township’s Zoning Ordinance for the front, side, and rear yards have all been 
satisfied. 

Fencing: A 6 Ft tall vinyl fence is proposed along the eastern property boundary and will extend 
the length of the 18 parking spaces proposed along the east side of Bronson Way. The fence will 
provide for additional screening between the memory care facility and the residentially zoned 
property to the immediate east. This will serve as a buffer between land uses in addition to the 
existing tree line along said property line. All requirements met. 

Lighting: A photometric plan has been provided. Several new pole mounted lights and building 
mounted lights are proposed. All lighting ordinance requirements have been met.   

Signs: No changes to the current on-site signage is proposed. This portion of the review is not 
applicable.   

Landscaping 
The landscaping plan that was submitted by the applicant proposes to preserve a number of 
existing trees in addition to planting several different tree species on-site. A significant amount of 
landscaping interior to the site such as along the expanded parking area and around the building 
addition has been provided. All landscaping requirements within the Zoning Ordinance have been 
met.  

Engineering  
Wightman and the Oshtemo Public Works Department have reviewed the project site plan and 
overall are happy with the proposal. 

Fire Department 
The Fire Marshal has reviewed the site plan and finds it satisfactory. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Department staff recommend the approval of the proposed Site Plan for a 21,075 SF building 
addition onto the existing building located at 1700 Bronson Way with the following conditions.  

1) A Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control (SESC) permit from the Kalamazoo County Drain
Commissioner’s Office will be required prior to building permit issuance.

2) An 8” watermain connection is proposed on the south side of the building. All watermain
connections shall be coordinated with the City of Kalamazoo Department of Public Services.
Acceptance of watermain construction and testing must be provided prior to issuing a certificate
of occupancy.

3) A non-motorized project permit for new sidewalk facilities within the public right-of-way shall be
obtained from the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County prior to building permit issuance.

4) Benefit Unit fees for the sewer connection shall be collected by the Township prior to issuing a

certificate of occupancy.

5) Copies of the necessary recorded easements shall be provided to the Township prior to issuing a
certificate of occupancy.

40



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Story Point Kalamazoo at Bronson Place – Building Addition 
05/21/2024 ∙ Page 5 

6) As a Non-Motorized Plan is presently being prepared as part of the Comprehensive Plan process,

the extent of sidewalk installation along the subject site’s road frontage as a part of the building

addition project will be determined prior to occupancy.

Attachments: Application and Plan Set

41



 

[This page left intentionally blank] 

42



43



44



131

131

KALAMAZOO  COUNTY,  MICHIGAN
COMMONSAIL DEVELOPMENT

STORYPOINT KALAMAZOO AT BRONSON PLACE
MEMORY CARE ADDITION

Legal Description per Transnation Title Agency File No. 427147GRS

Parcel 1: (-017)
Beginning at the South 1/4 post of Section 12, Town 2 South, Range 12 West, Oshtemo Township,
Kalamazoo County, Michigan, and running thence North 00 degrees 03 minutes 39 seconds West along
the North and South 1/4 line of said Section, 832.44 feet; thence North 87 degrees 33 minutes 25
seconds East 1313.95 feet (recorded as North 87 degrees 34 minutes 17 seconds East 1314.12 feet) to
the East line of the West 1/2 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section; thence South 00 degrees 03 minutes
17 seconds East along said East line 831.10 feet (recorded as South 00 degrees 02 minutes 32 seconds
East 830.78 feet) to the South line of said Section; thence South 87 degrees 29 minutes 54 seconds
West along said South line, 1313.92 feet to beginning.
Excepting therefrom: a Parcel situated in the Southeast 1/4 of Section 12, Town 2 South, Range 12
West, Oshtemo Township, Kalamazoo County, Michigan, described as: Commencing at the South 1/4
post of Section 12, Town 2 South, Range 12 West and running thence North 00 degrees 03 minutes 39
seconds West along the North and South 1/4 line of said Section, 180.44 feet for the point of beginning
of this description; thence continuing North 00 degrees 03 minutes 39 seconds West 652.00 feet; thence
North 87 degrees 33 minutes 25 seconds East (recorded as North 87 degrees 34 minutes 17 seconds
East) 415.00 feet; thence South 02 degrees 25 minutes 43 seconds East 561.62 feet; thence South 76
degrees 04 minutes 57 seconds West 450.97 feet to the beginning.

45



S00°52'09"W 831.10'

BR
O

N
SO

N
 W

AY
(PR

IVATE)

5

±

±

±

0 20' 40'

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

46



S88°24'09"W 657.15'

24

27

27

CROYDEN DRIVE
(PUBLIC)

M
AP

LE
 H

IL
L 

D
R

IV
E

(P
U

BL
IC

)

0 20' 40'

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

47



±

±

±

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

0 20' 40'

ROOT
BALL

48



A.101

N MEMORY CARE WING - 28 BEDS
0          8’          16’                       32’                   NOTE: 10’-0” HIGH CEILINGS THROUGHOUT COMMON AREAS.

(21,075 TOTAL GSF)

DINING 
ROOM

ACTIVITY 
ROOM

LOUNGE

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

S
S

S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S

S
C O R R I D O R

SECURE
EXTERIOR

COURTYARD
COVERED

PORCH

SPA
(INCLUDES STACKED 

WASHER/DRYER)

MEMORY 
CARE

DIRECTOR

MECH/
ELEC

WELLNESS
WAITING

CLEAN
UTLITYJC

STAFF
TOILET

WELLNESS
STATION/

MED ROOM

REFUSE/
SOILED
UTILITY

TOILET

BEVERAGE
CLOSET

CONFERENCE 
ROOM VESTIBULE

SECURITY
DOORS/
FIREWALL

SECURITY
DOORS

PROPOSED 
1-STORY

MEMORY 
CARE WING

(28 BEDS)

IT

ISLAND
W/ COUNTER

LINEAR 
KITCHEN

COLUMNS

SCREEN
WALL

ELECTRIC 
FIREPLACE

W/ TV/SHELVING

OPEN TO 
CORRIDOR

WATER
METER
ROOM

STAFF
TOILET

FOYER

OFFICE/
STORAGE/

QUIET ROOM

VARIOUS HEIGHT 
SCREEN WALLS ALONG 

CORRIDOR

6’-6” W
I D E  C

O
R R I D O

R

SEATING
ALCOVE

JC

STORAGE

FULL HEIGHT
GLASS

15’-2”

23
’-0

”TYPICAL 
STUDIO UNIT

340 SF (GROSS)
308 SF (NET)

EXIT
(SOLID 
DOOR)

GLASS

FULL HEIGHT
GLASS

(TYPICAL)

S S

BUILT-IN
CABINETRY 

COUNTERTOP/ 

SCREEN
WALL

ARTWORK

JC

ACCESIBLE 
TOILET W/
SHOWER

FRENCH
DOORS

SMOKE 
BARRIER
DOORS

DAY ROOM/ 
ACTIVITY 

STAFF
LOUNGE
KITCHENETTE

LOCKERS

COVERED
PORCH

GENERATOR/
TRANSFORMER

VARIOUS HEIGHT 
SCREEN WALLS ALONG 

CORRIDOR

6’ HIGH
OPAQUE
FENCE

ALL MEMORY CARE 
UNITS TO BE ACCESSIBLE

(IBC-1107.5.2.1)

ACCESSIBLE SEATING 
AT BUILT-IN SEATING

(IBC-1109.11)
(A117.1-902)

GREATER THAN 5% OF 
LOCKERS TO BE ACCESSIBLE 
WITH ACCESSIBLE BENCH IN 

AREA (A117.1-803)

O S H T E M O  T O W N S H I P ,                                        M I C H I G A N
COMMON SAIL DEVELOPMENT GROUP

04.01.24

B R O N S O N  P L A C E
MEMORY CARE WING

49



MEMORY CARE WING - ELEVATIONS
0          8’          16’                       32’                   

SOUTHWEST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION - DRIVE

NORTHEAST ELEVATION - ENTRANCE

19
’-0

”

19
’-0

”

HORIZONTAL SIDING ‘B’ HORIZONTAL SIDING ‘A’

19
’-0

”

10
’-0

”

BRICK

SHINGLES
LOUVER

12” HEADER

WOOD TRIM
SHINGLES

TRANSOM WINDOWS EXISTINGADDITION

EXISTINGADDITION DROP-OFF CANOPY
COMPOSITE COLUMNS AT COVERED ENTRANCE

10
’-0

”

HORIZONTAL SIDING ‘A’
HORIZONTAL SIDING ‘B’

BRICK

A.102

O S H T E M O  T O W N S H I P ,                                        M I C H I G A N
COMMON SAIL DEVELOPMENT GROUP

04.01.24

B R O N S O N  P L A C E
MEMORY CARE WING

50



May 1, 2024 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT  

ANNUAL REPORT 

2023 

51



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            2 

 

 

LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS 
Section 308 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (Public Act 110 of 2006, as amended) requires the Planning Commission to 
prepare an annual report for the Township Board documenting the administration of the Zoning Ordinance. It is also a re-
quirement to outline possible future amendments to the Ordinance. This report fulfills this obligation for 2023 and provides 
updates on the activities and projects planned for 2024.   

 

The Planning Department has expanded the scope of the report to further document the activities of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals and the administrative activities of the Planning Department staff. By doing so, the document provides a more com-
plete picture of the Planning and Zoning activities in the Township. This report is submitted to the Township Board for review 
and consideration as it develops its own work plans and budgets for the coming years.  

 

2023 ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS  
Ordinance No. 647 – (Zoning Board of Appeals) Text Amend-
ment to Article 69, complete rewrite. This amendment of all 
residential zones within the Township to allow for Qualified 
Residential Treatment Programs (QRTP) as defined by Chapter 
722 of Michigan Compiled Laws Governing Child Welfare Or-
ganization as a permitted use.  

Ordinance No. 648 – Text Amendment to Article 50, Section 
50.10 A & C, Article 64, Section 64.90A, & Article 65, Section 
65.60. Ordinance Amendments to Article 64 and 65 were nec-
essary because the Township Ordinance prescribed a one-year 
approval for Site Plans and Special Uses, with an option to 
request an extension from the original approving body prior to 
the expiration of the one-year validity period, allowing admin-
istrative approval of the extensions. The Ordinance Amend-
ment to Article 50 provided clarification on how frontage is 
measured, whether lots or building sites need to be situated 
on a public street or road, and when a deviation for an un-
buildable parcel is warranted. 

Ordinance No. 653 – (Commercial Wind Energy Conversion 
System & Commercial Solar Energy Array Zoning Moratorium) 
Text Amendments to Sections: 2, 4.40, 5.40, 8.4, 9.4, 10.4, 
11.40, 18.40, 19.50, 20.40, 21.40, 26.50, 27.40 & 28.40. This 
Amendment imposed a Moratorium on all Consumer Wind 
Energy Conversion Systems and Commercial Solar Arrays until 
the time that necessary ordinance provisions are revised or 
developed, to ensure the public health, safety, and welfare 
associated with the Development of Commercial Wind Energy 
Conversion Systems and/or Commercial Solar Arrays.  

Ordinance No. 654 – (Airport Zoning) Amendment adding Arti-
cle 58 to the Township Zoning Ordinance. This Ordinance 
Amendment was to protect the flight patterns and landing 
area of Newman’s Field, a public use airport.  

Ordinance No. 656-  (Wireless Telecommunication Facilities 
5g) Repeals Article 49.80 and replaces it with Article 59 of the 
Township Zoning Ordinance. This Ordinance Amendment relat-
ed to Federal regulations which required that municipalities 
allow for 5G facilities. Since the Township did not have any 
guidance, it was pertinent to update the Ordinance to allow 

the Township to have control over where and how the facili-
ties are placed.  

Ordinance No. 659- Text Amendment to Section 2.20, 42.30, & 
50.30.  This Ordinance Amendment was drafted while creating 
the Airport Ordinance, when Staff became aware that the 
Township Ordinance did not set height limitations for a majori-
ty of single– and two-family dwellings. To ensure the intent of 
the airport ordinance can be fully executed, height standards 
were needed. 

Ordinance No. 660- (Solar Energy Systems) Amendment add-
ing Article 60 to the Township Zoning Ordinance. This Ordi-
nance Amendment was prepared to address the lack of a com-
prehensive general ordinance or zoning ordinance provisions 
regarding the development of commercial Solar Energy Sys-
tems within the Township. 

Ordinance No.  651 -  (Private Road & Private Streets Zoning 
Moratorium) Text Amendment to Article 34, Section 34.70, 
Article 35, Section 35.50, Article 41, Section 41.80, Article 42, 
Section 42.30, Article 43, Section 43.50, Article 44, Section 
44.50, Article 48, Section 48.100, & Article 49, Section 49.200. 
This Amendment imposed a Moratorium on all Private Roads/
Streets, until such time as the Zoning Ordinance can be revised 
to incorporate the necessary revisions to address connectivity 
and access management to ensure, public health, safety, and 
welfare, associated with the development of Private Roads/
Streets. 

Ordinance No. 662- (Amended Private Road & Private Streets 
Zoning Moratorium) Text Amendment to Article 34, Section 
34.70, Article 35, Section 35.50, Article 41, Section 41.80, Arti-
cle 42, Section 42.30, Article 43, Section 43.50, Article 44, Sec-
tion 44.50, Article 48, Section 48.100, & Article 49, Section 
49.200.  This Amendment accomplished the same as Ordi-
nance No. 651. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

52



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            3 

 

 

ORDINANCE PROJECTS CONTINUING INTO 2024 

Signage Ordinance update — Updating the regulations within 
Article 55, Signs and Billboards, to be fully compliant with Fed-
eral and State regulations and protections has been on the 
ordinance update “to - do list” for several years. The Legal 
Department, with collaboration from the Planning Director, 
drafted amendments to Article 55 that address this need. As 
this Article was being updated, staff found it prudent to re-
view it in its entirety; additional amendments that provide 
clarification have been suggested. The proposed amendments 
were introduced to the Planning Commission at their regular 
August 25th, 2023, meeting into their regular September 8th, 
2023, meeting. Planning Commissioners felt that work on this 
Ordinance could be put on pause due to the work on the Mas-
ter Planning efforts.  
 
MU, Mixed Use District — The Planning Commission is working 
to create a new zoning district which can be used to imple-
ment the Maple Hill Sub Area Plan and other subarea plans 
adopted by the Township. The creation of this district was 
identified by the Planning Commission as their top priority in 
early fall of 2022. After multiple discussions, including the re-
view of a draft overlay ordinance from 2019, a first draft of 
the newly proposed zoning district was introduced to the 
Commission at their November 17th regular meeting. Work on 
this ordinance continues.  
 
Private Streets Ordinance — The Planning Commission extend-
ed the Moratorium on Private Road and Private Streets two 
times this year (as previously mentioned in the 2023 Ordi-
nance Amendments section). Efforts to complete the Town-
ship’s Transportation and Mobility Ordinance to create a con-
nected transportation system that serves all travel modes and 
aligns with the Township’s planning goals, prioritizes safety to 
eliminate traffic-related injuries and fatalities, promoting pub-
lic health and well-being, ensures that all of our residents 
have access to affordable and reliable transportation options 
for their daily needs, designs transportation systems that fit 
the unique characteristics of our community, while respecting 
its identity, and encourages walking, biking, and other active 
transportation methods, support economic grown, and pro-
mote public health. Work on this ordinance continues.  
 

2023 MASTER PLANNING EFFORTS  
Housing Action Plan — Thriving, inclusive communities have a 
diverse and affordable supply of housing. For Oshtemo to ad-
dress the needs of its growing population and housing afford-
ability challenges, the Township entered into an agreement 
with the W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research on 
September 28, 2021 to develop a master plan update which 
will translate community housing needs into recommended 
programs, policies, and ordinance updates. The project was 
kicked off with the Planning Commission on February 24, 
2022. Since then W.E. Upjohn has continued their research, a 
number of stakeholder meetings have been held, two open 
houses coordinated, and an online survey launched. Work on 
the housing action plan continues. The project was completed 

and formally adopted in 2023. Also in 2023, the preliminary 
stages began for creating the new Master Plan, described be-
low.  

 
UPCOMING ORDINANCE AND MASTER PLAN 
AMENDMENTS 

One of the purposes of the Annual Report is to look ahead to 
2024 and anticipate those items that the Planning Commission 
desires to address or work on over the next 12 months and 
beyond in the area of planning and zoning.  
 
Upcoming Ordinance Amendments — Ordinance amendment 
topics also on the Planning Commissions project list include:  
the Transportation and Mobility Ordinance; signage ordi-
nance; the Mixed-Use Ordinance; Permitted Uses, Permitted 
Uses with Conditions, and Special Uses; sidewalk, lighting, dry 
sewer in developments; marijuana; nonhazardous materials; 
and the continued implementation of the Go!Green Oshtemo 
Plan.  
 
Upcoming Master Plan — The Housing Plan described above 
was formally adopted by the Township Board in December 
2023. In partnership with Progressive AE, the Township kicked 
off the comprehensive master plan process. This project 
would include a long range transportation plan, an economic 
development strategic plan, the evaluation of existing master 
plan documents, and the incorporation of desired planning 
concepts such as habitat corridors and age friendly communi-
ties. This will be a multi-year project.  

 
MEETINGS / ATTENDANCE 
Participation records are shown below. The Planning Commis-
sion had a total of 22 regular meetings, two joint meetings, 
and two special meetings. Of the 22 planned regular meetings, 
18 meetings were held and four were cancelled due to lack of 
agenda items. November and December had only one 
meeting each due to the holidays. Commissioner Anna Ver-
salle’s term ended after the July 27th meeting, while Scott 
Makohn joined the Planning Commission starting at the Sep-
tember 14th regular meeting.  
 

  Commission Members   Attendance 

Zak Ford 16/18 

Micki Maxwell 16/18 

Alistair Smith 17/18 

Phil Doorlag 17/18 

Anna Versalle 11/12 

Scot Jefferies 18/18 

Deb Everett 16/18 

Scott Makohn 4/4 

53



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            4 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION CONT. 

 

SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES continued 
A total of six Special Exception Use applications were submitted and reviewed by the Planning Commission in 2023. All but one 
were approved (due to a ZBA decision pulling the item from the agenda), each with a specific set of conditions, which the appli-
cant was required to meet as part of the development of the project. A table summarizing all Special Exception Use reviews in 
2023 can be found below.  

 

One of the Special Exception Uses was for a new residential development: Sunset Pointe Condominiums, located on Meridian 
Avenue, which is a 33 building duplex development (66 units), with club house, community pool and associated parking lot, 
which was approved. This item went before the Planning Commission in 2022 for initial feedback.  

The Planning Commission permits staff to administratively review temporary outdoor events once they have been approved 
through the public hearing process or if they last only one day. One event was approved by the Planning Commission in 2023, a  
total of ten events were approved administratively. A summary of the ten administratively approved events can be found on 
page 9 of this report. 

 

Three extension requests were submitted for Special Exception Use applications; with the extensions being approved adminis-
tratively. The extension requests were for  Sunset Pointe Condominiums, Faraday, and Tournesol.  

Total Special Exception Use Reviews in 2023: 6 

Project Title / Address Applicant Use/Project Summary  PC Decision Date 

Sunset Pointe Condomini-

ums / Meridian Avenue 

(Parcel #05-26-460-021)  

Scott Carlson, Sunset 

Point Condominiums, 

LLC 

A 33 building duplex development (66 units), 

with club house, community pool and associ-

ated parking lot 

Approval 3/23 

Consumers Energy /

Parkview Avenue (Parcel 

#05-25-355-010 AND #05-

26-490-031) 

Joseph Lawson, Con-
sumers Energy 

To establish a natural gas regulator station 

with a 3,240 sqft unmanned building and one 

120 sqft accessory building, with security 

fence with barbed wire 

Approval 3/23 

National Health and Nutri-

on Examination Survey 

Temporary Outdoor 

Event / 2747 S 11th Street  

Westat Inc. 

To allow a temporary outdoor event to locate 
CDC Mobile Exam Center medical trailers in 

the Delta Marriot Kalamazoo parking lot from 
April 8, 2023, through June 10, 2023. 

Approval 3/23 

Friendship Animal Hospi-

tal / 2999 S 11th Street 

Walt Hansen, Hansen 

Building and Design 

Corp. 

To establish a 5,614 square foot veterinary 

and small animal clinic with corresponding site 

elements 

Pulled from 

agenda due to 

ZBA decision 

11/16 

Long John Silver’s / 5481 
W Main Street 

Greg Minshall, Matrix 
Consulting Engineers 

To redevelop the site with one 2,288 sqft 

building to continue to serve as a fast food 

restaurant with drive through 

Approved 12/14 

West Port Village PUD / 
5401 W H Avenue  

Jeff Scheffers, Visser 
Construction  

To amend Unit 1 within the West Port Village 

Planned Unit Development (PUD) to establish 

an assembly and convention hall use in addi-

tion to the existing office space.  

Approved  5/25 

54



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            5 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION CONT. 
 

REZONINGS 
The Planning Commission received five rezoning requests in 2023. Three of the requests were for conditional rezonings. Sum-
maries of the rezoning requests are provided below.  

* Indicates Conditional Rezoning 

Rezoning Reviews in 2023: 5  

Request / Address 
PC                       

Recommendation 
Public Hearing  TB Decision 

R-3 to I-1 / 1580 S 8th Street  Approval 7/27 Adopted 

R-2 and C to C / 8447 Stadium Drive * Denial 8/24 Denied 

R-2 and C to C / 8469 Stadium Drive * Approval 10/26 Adopted 

AG to RR / 9177 W G Avenue Approval 12/14 Adopted 

R-2 to R-4 / 6660 W Main Street * Approval 3/23 Adopted 

55



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            6 

 

 

 

 
 

 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
One site plan review went before the Zoning Board of Appeals, which was for a new construction/an addition to an existing site. 
Adam Harvey of Glas Associates, on behalf of Taplin, requested site plan review in order to construct a 40,375 square foot 
maintenance and storage facility, located at 5070 W Michigan Avenue. This item was approved by the Zoning Board of Appeals 
on March 21, 2023. 

 

TEXT INTERPRETATION 
The Zoning Board of Appeals reviewed one text interpretation request in 2023. A text interpretation  is where the Zoning Board 
of Appeals is authorized to  interpret the text of the Zoning Ordinance. The one text interpretation that the Zoning Board of Ap-
peals reviewed in 2023 involved an interpretation of Section 41.60.B of the Zoning Ordinance to determine if assembly and con-
vention halls are an appropriate neighborhood commercial use within a residential PUD. The motion was approved to interpret 
Section 41.60.B to allow Assembly and Convention Halls (meeting rooms) as an acceptable neighborhood commercial use within 
a Residential PUD as they can be a low intensity commercial use serving the neighborhood as well as the needs of the residents 
within the development. 

 

VARIANCES  
The Zoning Board of Appeals reviewed one dimensional variance request in 2023. A variance is a license to use property in a way 
not permitted under the ordinance. If the Township received a large number of variance applications each year on a specific or-
dinance requirement, it could mean there is something out-of-step with that ordinance, necessitating a review that may warrant 
an ordinance revision.  

 

The one dimensional variance request received by the Zoning Board of Appeals was to construct a new commercial building 25 
feet from both of the side yards while 50.70.E of the Township Ordinance requires 50-foot side yard setbacks. The project was at 
2999 S 11th Street. The Zoning Board of Appeals denied the request.   

 
The Zoning Board of Appeals also reviewed two non-dimensional variances. These were for Sign Impressions, on behalf of HCD 
Properties LLC, requesting two sign variances pertaining to new on-site signage for an industrial property located at 3680 Stadi-
um Park Way. Both variances were requesting relief from Section 55.90 of the zoning ordinance which governs the use, area, 
type height, and number of signs allowed for industrial land uses. Both requests were approved by a unanimous motion. 

 

MEETINGS / ATTENDANCE 

Zoning Board of Appeals meetings are generally scheduled on the fourth Tuesday of each month. In 2023, of the twelve regularly 
scheduled meetings, four were held and eight canceled due to lack of agenda items. In addition, the Zoning Board of Appeals 
was invited to two Joint Board meetings. As shown on the table on the right, the Zoning Board of Appeals is highly engaged and 
has a strong participation record.  

 

 Board Members Attendance 

Alistair Smith 3/4 

Anita Smith, Chair 4/4 

Louis Williams  4/4 

Fred Gould   4/4 

Dusty Famer, TB Liaison  4/4 

Harry Jachym 4/4 

Rick Everett 4/4 

56



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            7 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT REVIEWS 

The Planning Department processes all of the development 
applications that are submitted to the Township, including 
rezoning requests, variances, site plans, building permits, sign 
permits, and sidewalk permits. The Planning Department re-
viewed nearly 600 applications. 
 
The Zoning Ordinance grants the authority to the Planning 
Department to administratively review and approve site plans 
in certain instances. These include minor amendments to a 
previously approved site plan, accessory buildings that meet 
certain criteria, certain temporary outdoor events, and com-
munication tower co-locations or upgrades.  A total of 19 ad-
ministrative development reviews were completed in 2023. A 
brief summary of the 2023 staff level reviews are on the fol-
lowing pages. Please note that two applications were either 
withdrawn by the applicant or staff is awaiting resubmittal 
(these projects are not included in the administrative develop-
ment review total). 
 
In addition to the site plan applications noted above, the Plan-
ning Department also completed reviews for land divisions, 
sign permits, building permits, zoning verification letters, and 
address assignment. These reviews account for a significant 
portion of the Zoning Administrator’s daily activities.    
 

BUILDING PERMITS  
Planning Department staff reviews building permit applications 
that are subject to zoning compliance as determined by the 
Southwest Michigan Building Authority, now the Oshtemo 
Building Department, to ensure that all requirements of the 
zoning ordinance are met. Staff also checks for any conditions 
of approval that may have been placed on the property by the 
Planning Commission or Zoning Board of Appeals during the 
plan review and approval process. In 2023, the Township is-
sued 469 building permits. Of the total number of building 
permits issued in 2023, 311 required zoning approval by the 
Township Zoning Administrator. 
 

SIGN PERMITS 
A total of 38 sign permits were issued in 2023. New signs were 
over half of the sign permits issued in 2023, at 29 permits. The 
remaining 9 permits were for temporary signs or special event 
signs. The majority of the total sign permits were issued to 
addresses on West Main Street, with the remaining sign per-
mits primarily on Stadium Drive and the Drake Road and 9th 
Street corridors.  

 
LAND DIVISIONS, COMBINATIONS, REDESCRIP-
TIONS 
In 2023, the Zoning Administrators worked with the Assessing 
Department to review 12 land division, re-description, or com-
bination applications. The task of the Zoning Administrator is 

to ensure that the requested change to property boundaries 
meets the requirements established in the Township’s Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

SIDEWALK PERMITS 
In 2015, the Township initiated a sidewalk permitting process 
to help ensure new sidewalk development meets regulatory 
standards. These requirements incorporate the Americans 
with Disabilities Act standards for accessible design.  The per-
mit requires both a pre– and post-concrete pour inspection, 
which is managed by the Public Works Department.  In 2023, a 
total of 18 sidewalk permits were issued. The number of side-
walk permits issued is indicative of the residential construction 
occurring in the Township.  
 

ADDRESSING 
In March of 2021 the Township adopted a new Street Name 
and Addressing Workflow in which the assignment of all street 
addresses became the responsibility of the Planning Depart-
ment. The goal for the new workflow is to create a uniform 
address and street data procedure for more consistent assign-
ment and for improved emergency response within the Osht-
emo Township limits. In 2023, 15 address requests were ap-
proved. Of the 15, two were for multi-tenant commercial cen-
ters. Two were for two residential developments. The residen-
tial developments included addresses for a 31-unit manufac-
tured housing community along with addresses for a 66-unit 
condominium development. 
 

ZONING VERIFICATION LETTERS  
A Zoning Verification Letter is a document provided to an indi-
vidual by the Township that verifies the current zoning of a 
particular piece of property, the types of uses that are allowed 
in that zoning district, approval records, and other requested 
zoning information or documents. In 2023, 11 Zoning Verifica-
tion letters were issued.  

57



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            8 

 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE SITE PLAN REVIEWS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total Amendments Administratively Reviewed in 2023:   6 

Address Applicant Use/Project Summary  

 1300 S 8th Street  Naylor Landscaping 
New building on site with corresponding site 

modifications   

 501 N 9th Street  
Carlson Consulting Engi-

neers, Inc.  

Parking lot repaving and improvements for 

Walmart (2) 

5034 W KL Avenue Willard Mott Directional signage added to site 

6740 Andover Drive 
Anna Bullock / Jennifer Flan-

nery 
Pinehurst Townhomes site modifications 

6312 Quail Run Drive Jason Miner Heritage Christian Academy site additions 

Total Administrative Communication Tower Upgrade Reviews in 2023: 2 

Address Applicant Approval Date 

4048 S 9th Street   SMJ Consulting Services  4/5 

5656 Beech Street  Mastec Network Solutions, LLC 7/28 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMUNICATION TOWER REVIEWS 

58



Planning Department Annual Report: 2023            9 

 

 

Total Administratively Reviewed Temporary Outdoor Events in 2023:  10 

Address Applicant Event Approval Date 

717 N Drake Road B2 Outlet Stores 
Temporary outdoor event in the site’s parking lot 

with food trucks on March 28, 2023.  
3/24 

2345 N 10th Street Centerpoint Church 
Temporary outdoor event for Trunk or Treating 

held on October 21, 2023.  
10/19 

6800 W Main Street  Country Fresh Farms 
 Meat sale event, taking place from the site’s park-

ing lot from July 19, 2023, through July 22, 2023. 
6/12 

8178 W Main Street D&R Sports Center 

 Temporary outdoor Boat and Sports show with a 

food vendor from April 14, 2023, through April 16, 

2023. 

3/20 

5034 W KL Avenue The Good Stuff Fireworks 

 Temporary outdoor sale of fireworks from the 

site’s parking lot from June 22, 2023, through July 

8, 2023.  

6/22 

8456 Stadium Drive Lawton Ridge Winery 

Temporary outdoor event in the site’s parking lot 

with food trucks on Wednesdays from April 12, 

2023, through October 25, 2023.  

4/3 

8126 W Main Street Kazoopy’s Pizza & Grinders 
Temporary outdoor car show in the site’s parking 

lot on May 21, 2023. 
5/19 

5030 W Main Street 
Oshtemo Township Rotary 

Club 

Temporary outdoor event for the Oshtemo Rotary 

Family Festival in the site’s rear parking lot on May 

25, 2023, through May 29, 2023. 

5/16 

6660 W Main Street TNT Fireworks 

 Temporary outdoor sale of fireworks from the 

site’s parking lot from June 27, 2023, through July 

5, 2023.  

6/12 

2747 S 11th Street Westat Inc. 
Temporary outdoor event to locate CDC Mobile 

Exam Center medical trailers in the Delta Marrior 
Kalamazoo parking lot from April 8, 2023, through 

3/23 

TEMPORARY OUTDOOR EVENTS 

59


	1. ZBA Agenda 05-21-2024
	2. Public Comment Policy
	3. 03-26-2024 ZBA Draft Minutes
	6. Public Hearing - Move Up LLC
	1. Staff Report to the ZBA_jodi edits
	2. Application - Frontage Variance
	3. Letter of Intent
	4. Sketch of Description
	Sheets and Views
	2350438-SKCH 2023-06-13-SKETCH


	5. 12-17-2001 MM
	6. Zoning Board of Appeals Letter 5.7.24

	7. Site Plan Review - Dunshee Auto and Body
	1. Dunshee Staff Report
	2. Application
	3. REVISED Plan Set
	1 - Combined Plans - Dunshee Body and Frame
	C001 COVER SHEET
	C101 SITE PLAN
	PH101 PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

	L101_041724
	L1.0

	2320 A201 - 032524
	1 - Combined Plan Set - Dunshee Body and Frame.pdf
	2320 A101 - 032524

	1 - Combined Plan Set - Dunshee Body and Frame.pdf
	1 - Combined Plans - Dunshee Body and Frame
	C102 GRADING PLAN




	8. Site Plan Review - Storypoint Memory Care Addition
	1. Final Staff Report
	2. planning-and-zoning-application-2023-fillable-SIGNED
	3. 2230819-SITE PLAN SUBMIT_2024-04-26
	2230819 - C000 COVER
	C000

	2230819 - C201 SITE PLAN O
	C201

	2230819 - C202 SITE PLAN
	C202

	2230819 - L100 LANDSCAPE PLAN O
	L100

	A.101 Bronson Place Memory Care - Oshtemo Twp SPA O
	A.102 Bronson Place Memory Care - Oshtemo Twp SPA O


	9.a. 2023 Planning Department Annual Report
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



